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Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No. 12450682)

STRATEGIC REPORT
For the year ended 31 Deceamber 2022

The Directors present their Strategic report of Cazoo Holdings Limited ("the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group” or “Cazoo”) for the year ended 31 Dacember 2022,

The Strategic report has been prepared to provide shareholders of the Group with additional information to assess
the Group's strategy and the potential for the strategy to succeed. The Strategic report contains forward-lcoking
statements. These statements are made by the Directors In good faith based on the information available up to
the time of their approval of this report and such statements should be treated with caution due to inherent
uncertainties, including both sconcmic and business risk factors, underlying any such forward-looking
information.

Principal activities

Cazoo Is an online car retailer. Cazoo was founded with a mission to transform the car buying and sslling
experience across the UK by providing betier selection, transparency and convenience, Our aim is to make
buying or selling a car no different to ordering any other product oniine, whera consumers can slimply and
seamlessly buy, sell and finance a car entirsly online for delivery or collection.

Business model
Markots

In 2021 and through to mid 2022 we pursued a strategy of expanding operations across malnland Europe {"EU")
as well as the UK through a number of acquisitions, launching operations in Germany, France, Italy and Spain,
Following the strategic review of our EL business, which completed In September 2022, we determined that the
appropriate decision for Cazoo was to withdraw from the EU to focus on the UK market. The decision to withdraw
was based on the matarial further investment required for Cazoo to scale its operations in the EU and the conflict
this had with the Company's prioritias of cash conservation and achieving profitability in the UK. Our focus is now
on the UK market, which consists of approximately seven milion used car transactions annually, worth
approximately £100 billlon, The EU business is preserted as discontinued operations in 2022, and cur operating
and financial raview focuses on the operations in the UK,

The Cazoo Platform

We are a highly data-driven Company and use proprietary data and algorithms to both purchase vehicles and to
price them for sale. Our and-tc-end digital platform offers customers in the UK a choice of used vehicles of
different makes and models for acquisition, and an opportunity to sell their car without an obligation to buy a car
from us, Other options available to the customer include part-exchanging their current vehicle as a form of partial
payment for a Cazoo car, as well as opticns to finance a car purchase. Qur customer proposition continues to
avolve over time as we adjust to the market backdrop and needs of the customer.

Vehlcie Ifecycle

We purchase the cars we belleve are best suited for our customers and platform. Qur purchasing strategy focuses
on optimizing our purchasing channels, balanced with car desirability. We use a data-driven and algorithm-based
approach, derived fram a mix of our first-party data {Cazoo websile searches and intent to buy, sales volumes,
days to sale) and third-party data sources, to determine which cars to purchase.

We acquire our used vehicle inventory from a variety of sources, Including used-car auctions, corperate suppliers
such as vehicle finance, leasing. and rantal companies, as wall as diractly from consumers (including via part-
oxchanges). During 2022, we continued to scale purchasing cars direcilly from consumers culside of part-
exchanges, via our direct car buying channel in the UK and in the year ended 31 December 2022 approximately
50% of retail units soid were sourced directly from consumers, Vehicles sourced directly from consumers reduce
the;] .n'eed to source from third parties and this approach typically lowers the ilke-for-lke cost of acqulring the
vehicia,
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Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No, 12450682)

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
For the year ended 31 Dacembar 2022

Business model (continued)

In the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022, we purchased from different supplier sources as follows:

Channel % of Total
Corporate 21%
Auctlon 27%
Consumer 51%
Other 1%
Total 100%

Wae partner with third-party lenders to finance the purchases of our inventory. We had £182 million drawn under
stocking Ioans on 31 December 2022, which enables capitel efficient inveniory acquisition,

Recondltloning

Each of our cars undergoes an inspection and is reconditioned to a high standard at our preparation facilities
before being offered for sale. As of 31 December 2022, we operated a network of eight vehicle preparation
centres across the UK, which we have consolidated to three operational retait preparation centres and one
operational wholesale preparation centre as part of the Revised Business Plans. These three retail preparation
centres provide us with the potential to recondition up to approximately 85,000 cars per year.

Wa typically own the vehicles we have reconditioned and sold, helping us to ensure the quality of our offering.
We alsc sall a small number of vehicles where the supplier owns the vehicle up to the point of saie, but the
vehicles still go through our reconditioning and logistics processes. We act as an agent and receive a fixed
commission from the supplier when the vehicle is sold.,

Customer Centres

As of 31 December 2022, we operated 21 customer centres around the UK, which we have consolidated to seven
as part of the Revised Business Plans. We have retained customer centres in the mast geographically optimal
locations in order {o maximize the number of customers who can coma ta a centre to pick up their car and to
make our logistics network more sfficient. We store, distribute, prepare and hand over cars for delivery at these
centres. Both Cazeo car owners and customers who have not purchased a Cazoo car can take their vehicles to
these centres for everything from service to MOT and repairs. We continue to oparate a Custormner Services site
which handles customer queries and is a satellite office.

Dellvery and Caollaction

Cur logistics infrastructure is capable of operating throughout the UK (excluding Northern Ireland) and offers a
high-quality delivery experience with in-house storage, distribution and car service. Customers can have their car
delivered to thelr door or they can collect it from one of our customer centres. Cars being transported from the
vehicle preparation centre or customer centre to the customer are primarily transported by our own fleet of 190
transporters and employed drivers. We use third-party providers for collection of certain wholesale cars for
delivery to auctions, and in a limited number of cases we use third-party providers to assist with intra-site
movements,

Vehicle Sales and Other Sales

When it comes to seling a car, our main channel is Retail (diractly to retail conasumers) primarily thraugh our
wobsite www.cazoo.co.uk. The secondary channel Is Wholesale where we sell vehicles through car auctions to
trade buyers and other customers. We alsa generate revenue from walk-in servicing; subscription services and
third-party reconditioning services (which are belng wound down following the decision to stop offering ocur
subscription service to new subscribers from the end of June 2022 as pant of the Business Realignment Plan).
Customers can return a purchased car under our Terms & Conditions and receive a refund.
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Cazoo Holdings Limited (Reglistered No. 12450682)

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
For the year andad 31 December 2022

Business modal (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue generated from retail sales through our platforn was
£1,103.6 mlllion, with 65,366 retail units sold; revenue generated from wholesale sales was £116.5 million;
revenue generated from other salas was £28.5 million.

Financing

We work with partners including Black Horse, BNP Paribas, Santander and Evoiution Funding {a broker with a
panel of different lenders) to offer our customers the ability to finance their Cazoo car. As we are a credit broker,
not a lendar, we aim to find the most competitive deal for the customer from our finance partners.

We offer all standard forms of car financing, as well as the purchase of part-exchange (customer vehicles
exchanged as partial payment for & Cazoo car) at the time of delivery or collection for added convenlence. We
offer Hira Purchase and Personal Contract Purchase finance plans.

Seasonality

Vehicle sales exhibit seascnality with sales peaking late in the first calendar quarter and diminishing through the
rest of the year, with the lowest relative lavel of industry vehicle safes expected to occur in the fourth calendar
quarter. Dus to our rapid growth, our sales patterns to date have not reflected the general seascnality of the used
vehicle industry. Used vehicle prices also exhibit seasonality, with used vehicles depreciating at a faster rate In
the last two quarters of each year and at a slower rate In the first two quarters of each year. in the future this may
result in a gross profit per unit higher on average In the first halff of the year than in the second half of the year
but this is not currently the case for Cazoo given our early stage of development.

Business strategles
Focus on Improving unit economics to continue progress towards our goal of reaching profitabliity

Our 2023 strategy is to focus on further improving our unit economics, reducing our fixed cost bass, and
maximizing our cash runway. To enable these impravements, we ars maving from & high growth multinationat
European madel to a focus on the UK market only, with higher margin and fasier moving inventory, tegether with
rationalization of our operational footprint. As part of this strategy we anncunced the Business Realignment Plan
in June 2022, the winddown of our EU business in September 2022, and the Ravised 2023 Plan in January 2023.
Together these plans are defined as the “Revised Business Plans”. Tha Revised Business Plans anticipate us
exscuting on the following key sirategies,

improving our purchasing channel mix and stock selection

Our Revised Business Plans aim to imprave the unit economics of the business. We expect that moderating our
growth assumptions will allow us to be more selective with the vehicles we acguire and ssll, enabling us to focus
on higher margin and faster moving inventory. We plan to improve our profitability through a continued shift in
our buying mix by saurcing more of our Inventory directly from consumers. We befieve this approach will lower
the like-for-ike cost of acquiring vehicles, In addition, we are rebalancing the mix of cars available for sale towards
highar margin, more desirable cars. We also expect to achleve continued efficiencies from further enhancements
to our products, partnerships, processas, and pricing.
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Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No. 12450682}

STRATEGIC REPORT {continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Business strategias {continued)
Managing the fixed costs within our business

As part of our Revised Business Plans, we expact to achiave significant fixed cost savings, with the aim of making
continued progress towards our goal of reaching profitability. In line with our revised unit expectations for 2023
and the current ecocnomic climate, we are making our operational and logistics network more efficlent through
the closure of certain of our vehicle preparation centres and customer centre facilities. We are reducing our
network of operational vehicla preparation centres from eight to four (three for retail reconditioning and one for
wholesale reconditioning}, which is expected to resutt in significant fixed cost savings. The remaining three retail
preparation centres provide us with the potential to recondition up to a total of approximeately 85,000 cars per
year. We are 8lso consolidating the number of customer cenbes around the UK from 21 to seven. We expect
these closures, combined with further headcount reducticns across our central teams, to aid us with our goal of
maximizing our cash runway and progressing towards our goal of reaching profitability.

Capture additional revenue opportunitles frem ancillary products and In-house financing products

We will continue to use our data and tachnology to launch new productls and thereby increase our anclllary
revenue opporiunities, This Includes Initiatives tc drive higher atlachment rates for finance and other ancillary
revenue products, thereby increasing customer lifetime vaiue. In Q4 2022, we achieved a record 51.5% finance
attachment rate, a testament to the strength of our offering.

Withdrawal from mainiand Europe and focus on the core UK market

Folowing the strategic review of our EU business in September 2022, we announced our decision to withdraw
from mainland Europe and focus exciusively on the UK market. The decision to withdraw was based on the
material further investment required for Cazoo to scals its operations in the EU and the conflict this had with the
Company's prioritias of cash conservation and achieving profitability in the UK. We have now largely exited all of
our mainland European operations.

Business and financlal reviaw

On 26 January 2022 we announced that we had agreed to acquire brumbrum, italy’s leading digital car retailer
and subscription platform, for €80 million in a mix of cash and Cazoo shares. The purpese of the acquisition was
to accelerate the launch of Cazoc’s full proposition throughout Italy. Following earlier launches in France and
Germany and acqulsitions in Spain and Italy, we were pursuing a strategy of building a strong presence across
the five largest European markets for usad cars by replicating the model in the UK,

On 10 February 2022 the Group's parant company, Cazoo Group Ltd, announced that it had agreed to issue and
sell, via a private placement (the “Note Issue”), $630 million in aggregate principal amount of 2.00% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2027 (the “Convertible Notes™), The Convertible Notes are currently convertible into Class A
Shares at a converslon price of $100.00 per share. The Note Issue was led by new investor Viking Global
'nvestors, alongside participation from several existing shareholders including Mubadala Investment Company,
D1 Capital and Willoughby Capital as weli as other new and existing investors. Following the Note Issus, a capital
contribution was mada from Cazoo Group Lid to Cazoo Holdings Limited. The funds were raised to support
Cazoo's continued growth in the UK and expansion in Europe.

On 22 March 2022 we ircreased our UK stocking facilities by £25 million with an existing lender. On 28 March
2022, we enterad into a €50 milllon asset-basad securitization facility with BNP Paribas (the ‘BNP Facility”).

On 12 May 2022 we announced we had launched our service in Spain,

On 7 June 2022 we announced a business realignment plan to de-risk the path to profitabilty and extend the
cash runway reflecting the weaker and uncertain external environment. The plan prioritized gross margin and
GPU growth, with a focus on cash preservation.

On 22 June 2022, we announced that we had launched in italy,
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Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No, 12450682)

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Business and financial review (continued)

On 2 August 2022 we announced the appointment of Paul Woalf as Chief Financial Officer to succeed Stephen
Morana during G4 2022. We alse announced the strateglc review of our EU business.

Qn 8 September 2022 we announced the outcome of the strategic review of our EU business, which conciuded
that the right course of action was for Cazoo to focus exclusively on the UK market. The decision to withdraw
was based on the material further investrnent required for Cazoo to scale its operation in the EL and the conflict
it had with the Curmpany's priorities of cash conservation and achleving profitability. As a result, the Company
commaenced an orderly wind down of ils operations in Germany and Spain and launched consultations with its
employee representatives in France and laly.

On 31 October 2022 we announced that Aramis Group SA and Cazoo Holdings Limited had reached agreement
for Aramis Group to acquire 100% of the capital and voting rights of Cazoo Trading Italy 8.p.A.

©n 15 December 2022 we announced that we had sold our Spanish subscription business, Swipcar, to Renting
Finders S.L.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was £1,248.6 mlllion (2021 £655.4 milion}. Revenue has
increased by £593.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the year ended 31 Dacember
2021 primarily due to increased online orders and rapid expansion of our business,

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2022 were £1,228.3 million (2021: £632.1 milion). Cost of sales
have increased by £596.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the year ended 31
December 2021 due to an increase in vehicle purchases and reconditioning costs following the rapid expansion
and growth of our business.

Marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were £62.6 million {2021: £63.2 million), Marketing
expenses have decreasad by £0,6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 comparad to the year ended 31
December 2021 primarily driven by a shiff from brand to performance marketing.

Selling and distribution expenses for the year endad 31 December 2022 ware £96.2 million (2021: £54.2 million).
Selling and distribution expenses have increased by £42.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
compared to the year ended 31 Dacember 2021, primarily due to an increase in personnel-related costs (selling
and distribution staff) of £31.8 million, due to the significant increase in average headcount in the year ended 31
December 2022, to support our growth.

Administrativa costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 were £51%.5 million (2021: £218.5 million). The total
administrative costs have Increased by £301.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the
year ended 31 December 2021 primarily due 1o

s an increase in personnelrelated costs of £21.7 million due to an increase in average headcount across
all administrative functions;

* an increase In share-based payments by £0.6 milllon reflecting the higher headcount and largar number
of outstanding options;

« an increase in depreciation, amortisation and impairment of intangible assets of £294.9 million reflecting
a non-cash impairment charge of £299.4 million largely related to aclicns taken in the Group's Revised
Business Plans including the wind down of operations in mainland Europe; together with a higher number
of offices and customer centres; and

+ excepticnal tems of £7.0 million include restructuring costs of £6.0 million with the remainder primarily
ralated lo transaction costs incurred on tha acquisition of brumbrum. Exceptional items for the year ended
31 Dacember 2021 included transaction costs of £37.8 million in relation to the Listing. "Listing” means
the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, dated as of 29 March 2021, as
amended by the First Amendment thereto, dated as of 14 May 2021, by and among Alax |, Capri Listce
and Cazoo,

Finance incoma for the year ended 31 Decamber 2022 was £2.1 million {2021; £0.2 million). Finance income has
increased by £1.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared o the year ended 31 December 2021
due to an increase in average cash at bank and short-term deposits, and an increase in interest rates.

7
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Cazoe Holdings Limited (Registerad No. 12450682)

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
For the year endad 31 Docember 2022

Business and financial review (continued)

Finance expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were £12.0 milllon (2021: £4.7 million), Finance
expenses have Increased by £7.3 milllon for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the year ended 31
December 2021, nterest on loans and borrowings increased by £3.6 million primarily due to an increase in
interest rates. Interest on lease l'abilties Increased by £3.7 million driven by an increase In the number of
leasehold properties and transporters.

Tie tax credit was £7.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared 1o a tax credit of £2.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The tax credit relates to the net movements in specific defarred tax itemns in
the period. A deferred tax assst is only recognised up to an amount equal to the total of deferred tax liabilities
with the excess not being recognised.

Loss after tax from discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December 2022 was £185.8 million (2021:
£14.2 million). Loss after tax from discontinued operations has increased by £171.5 mililon for the year ended 31
December 2022 compared to the year ended 31 December 2021 due to the launch and subsequent winddown
of our operaticns in mainland Europe,

The Group's loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 was £839.8 million (2021; £329.0 million).

The results of the Group are included in the financlal statements from page 28 cnwards. No dividends were paid
during the year. The Directors do not recommend a final dividend In respect of the year.

Key performance indicators

We regularly monitor the foliowing key performance indicators to help evaluate our business and trends, identify
near-term and longer-term risks and opportunities, measure our performance, prepare financial projections and
make strategic decisions. We believe these cperational measures aras useful in evaluating our performance, in
additlon to our financial results prepared in accordance with [FRS,

The calculation of our key operating and financiai metrics is straightforward and does not rely on significant
projections, estimates or assumptions. Nevertheless, there are limitations inherent within these calculations, and
these measures may not be comparable to other performance measures used by our competitars. Each of our
koy operating and financial metrics focuses spacifically on only one standard by which to evaluate our business,
without taking into account other applicable standards, performance measures or operating trends by which our
business could be evaluated. Accordingly, no single metric should be viewed as the indicator by which our
business should be measured. Rather, each key operating and financial metric should be considered in
conjunction with other metrics and components of our results of operatlons.

These operating and financlal metrics should be read in conjunction with the following discussion of our results
of operations and together with our audited consolidated financlal statements and related notes included
slsawhere in this Annual Report.

Year anded 31 December Variance
2022 2021 Change %
UK Retzil units soki 65,366 34,718 30,648 88%
UK Retail gross profit per unit £403 £427 £(24) (6)%
UK Ancilary revenue per retail unit sold £605 £439 £186 38%
UK Average monthly unique users (thousands)' 1,532 1,619 (87) (5)%
UK Retail inventory units available on website 7,700 4,683 3,017 64%

" The 2021 comparative has been restated to exclude 12 thousand EU users,
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
UK Retail units sold

Retail units sold is defined as the number of vehicles sold through our retail channel and detivered to customers,
net of returns. Retail units soid excludes vehicles sold through auction which are recorded within our wholesale
channel. Our retail business is the core propasition of Cazoo and we expect that retail units sold will be the
primary driver of revenue generation. Retail unit sales also provide a source of cars through our consumer vehicle
acquisition channel (either through direct sales or part-exchanges). Vehicles acquired through this channel can
slther be reconditioned and added to our inventory or sold through our wholesale channel.

Retail units sold for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to 65,366 units compared to 34,718 retall units
sold for the year ended 31 December 2021. In the year ended 31 Dacember 2022, 6.7% of used cars soid were
returned for a refund. Retail units sokd increased throughout the period driven by continued strong uptake of our
offering, despite the challenging macroeconomic environment. In 2023, our focus will be on Improving unit
economics.

UK Retall gross profit per unit

This metric is defined as the aggregate retail sales price and ancillary revenues (including financing commission,
warrgnty commission, paint protection, delivery charges, administrative fees and any add-ons) from all vehicles
sokd through our retail channel in a given period, less the aggregate costs to acquire those vehicles, the aggregate
costs of inbound transportation to the vehicle preparation centres, auction fees, the aggregate costs of
reconditioning those vehicles, costs of providing insurance, warranty, fusl and other direct costs associated with
providing the car to the customer, divided by the number of retail units sold in that peried, This is an important
maetric thal we use to record and forecast the performance and trends of our core retail businass, Thera are a
number of drivers of this metric such as our purchasing mix, cost of reconditioning, days to sale, our finance
attachment rate and the number of new ancillary products.

Far the year ended 31 December 2022 retall gross profit per unit was £403, compared to gross profit per unit of
£427 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was primarily due to an increase in reconditioning
costs due to the rapid expansion and growth of our business.

Qur business plan is to continue to grow retail gross profit per unit,
UK Ancillary revenue per retall unit sold

Each retall vehicle sale through our website creates an opportunity to sell anciflary products. The products include
financing, warranty, paint protection, service plans and affiliate add-ons. Customers buying vehicles from us may
enter into a contract for finance through our plaform. We receive commissions for the arrangement of these
contracts from the lender. When buying a car from us, customers can also purchase additional assoclated
preducts {including extended warranty, paint protection and service plans), from which we achieve attractive
margins. The combination of these ancillary profit sources is an important metric that we use to track and forecast
our performance. The ability to generate additional revanue around the vehicle purchase is a key component of
GPU,

For the year ended 31 December 2022 ancillary revenue per retail unit sold was £605 compared to ancillary
revenue per retail unit seld of £439 for the year ended 31 December 2021, The increase was primarily driven by
an improved online journey and stock profile, as well as an expansion of ancillary product opticns.

UK Average monthly unique users

This metric i3 defined as the average number of individuals who access our website within a calendar manth,
based on data provided by Google Analytics. We caiculate the average monthly unique vigitors over any pericd
oy dividing the aggragate manthly unique visitors during such period by the number of months in that period, This
metric ls used to measure the quality of our customer experience, the effectiveness of our marketing campaigns
and customer acquisition as well as the strength of our brand and market penetration, which can then be turned
intc a retail sale.
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Key performance Indicators (continued)

The computation of average monthly unigue visitors excludes individuals who access our platform multiple times
within a calendar month, counting such individuals only ane time for purposes of the calculation. If an Individual
accasses our wabslte using different devices or different browsers on the same davice within a given month, the
first access through each such device or browsar is counted as a separate monthly unique visitor.

OQur average monthly unique users during the year ended 31 December 2022 decreased to 1,532 thousand
users, compared to 1,618 thousand users during the year ended 31 Decamber 2021. The decrease in the
average monthly unique visitors was primarily due to optimization of our marketing strategy to focus on higher
performance traffic channels, which we believe will jead, over time, to a higher rate of converting wabsite visits
into sales.

UK Retall Inventory units available on website

Restall Inventory units available on website represent the total number of vehicles available for sale on our website
on the last day of each reporting perod. This may lead to volatility when comparing one period to another, itis
important to ensLire we have enough inventory to cater to the majority of customers based on customer demand,

Retail inventery units available on the website is a key indicator of our performance because we belleve that the
number of vehicles listed on cur platform is one of the key drivers of vehicle sales and revenue generation,
Ensuring an adequate number of vehicles listed on our website results in a greater selaction of vehicles for our
customers, creating demand and Iincreasing conversion.

Our retail inventory units avallable on our wabsite increased to 7,700 units as of 31 December 2022 compared
to 4,683 units as of 31 December 2021, The increase in units was primarily driven by higher retall units purchased
during the year and increased reconditioning throughput.

Alternative performance measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with IFRS we believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful
information for management and investors to assess the underlying performance of the business as it removes
the effect of certain non-cash items and certain charges that are not indicative of our underlying operating
performance cr results of operations. We beiieve that non-IFRS financial information, when taken collectively
with financial measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, may be helpful to investors because it provides an
additional tool for Investors to use in evaluating our ongoing operating results and trends and because It provides
consistency and comparability with past financial perforrnance.

Adjusted EBITDA is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, and Adjusted EBITDA has
limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in Isoiation from, or as a substitute for, the analysis
of other IFRS financial measures, such as loss for the year. Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include
that it does not reflect the impact of working capital requirements or capital expenditures and other companies in
our Industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently, or use a different accounting standard, which limits its
usefulness as a comparative measure. Adjusted EBITDA may not be indicative of our historic cperating results
nor is it meant to be predictive of potential future results.

“Adjusted EBITDA" is defined as loss for the year from continuing operations adjusted for tax, finance income,
finance expense, depreciation, amartisation and impairment of intangible assets, share-based payment expense,
foreign exchange movemants and exceptional itams which do not relate to our underlying operations.

Note 5 presents a reconciliation of loss for the year, the most comparable IFRS measure to Adjusted EBITDA for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,

Flnanclal position

The Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2022 were £873.9 million (2021: £1,179.8 milllen) and net assets
were £433.8 million (2020: £742.1 million). The decrease in total assets and net assets largely reflects a non-
cash impairment charge of £299.4 million largely related to actions taken in the Group's Revised Business Plans.

10
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Liquidity and Capital Rescurces

On 8 September 2022, following the review of a range of strategic options, we conciuded that we would focus
exclusively on our core opportunity in the UK. Qur 2023 strategy is to further improve our unit economics, reduce
our fixed cost base, and maximize our cash runway. Tec enable these improvemants, we have scaled back on
our expectations for growth in 2023 and will focus on higher margin and faster moving tnventery and
rationalization of our operational footprint.

As of 31 December 2022, we had cash and cash squivalents of £258,3 million, We believe that our cash on hand,
and available borrowing capacity under stocking loans and borrowings, will be adequate to meet our flquidity
requirements for at least the twelve months following the date of approval of the financial statements,

Wae have adopted a plan (the “2023 budget”) designed to allow us to focus on unit economics through highar
margin, faster moving inventory and rationalization of our operational footprint. [n fine with the lower unit
expectations for 2023 and the current economic climate, the 2023 budget includes the closure of certain vehicle
preparation centres, customar centres and further headcount reductions, which are already underway, The 2023
budget is axpected to deliver a significant reduction in our cash consumption and continued progress towards
our goal of reaching profitabllity, without the need to ralse further external funding until H2 2024,

The 2023 budget includes actions to increase liquidity such as a prospective saie and leaseback of owned
property, the continued financing of UK retail inventory and the unwinding of the UK subscriptions business to
realise cash from subscription vehicles in property, plant and equipment.

Givan the stage of evolution of our Company, there are certain inharent uncectainties in forecasting operating
performance, including gross profit margin, as well as cash flows. Our abiiity to satisfy our current liabilities end
maintain daily liquidity is dependent on successful exacution of our 2023 budget. Management has evaluated
our forecasted cash burn rate by testing our 2023 budget in a range of scenarios. |n a downside scenarlo, certain
inherent uncertainties for forecasting operating performance, including gross profit margin, and the status of
implernenting the 2023 budget, combine to ralse substantial doubt about our abllity to continue as a going
concern. See Note 2.8 to the audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

As of 31 Dacembar 2022 we had kans and borrowings of £182.2 million including stocking loans of £161,6 million
and subscription faclities of £15.0 milllen. Our business modaei relies on having a large inventory of cars availabk
on our platform to have a broad offering to prospective customers. To fund the working capital required to
malntain high levels of inventory we enter into stocking loan arrangements. Under a stocking loan arrangement,
a bank will take the legal title of cars held In Cazoo's stock and provide a loan relative to the vaiue of the car, Cur
stocking loans at 31 December 2022 do not contain financial or other restrictive covenants, The loans charge a
rate of interest at a base rate plus a margin. Thase facilities have no fixed end date but are subject to annual
review. Cartain facilities have triggers to revise the loan-tc-value terms if cash falls below a certain level, We ara
proactively reducing our number of available faciiities to reflect the lower unit volume we anticlpate in 2023, If the
number of these facilities was reduced further, we could choose to cash finance inventory in the short-term, orto
reduce overall levels of Inventory heid,

Wa do not believe we will need external capital until H2 2024. However, in response io the risks and uncertainties
described above, we may seek to secure additional outside capital over the next twelve months beyond the date
hereof. While we have historically been successful in our ability to secure outside capftal, as of the date herecf,
we had no firm commitments of additional outside capital. We can provide no assurance we will be able to
continue to secure outside capltal in the future or do so on tarms that are acceptable to us. Furthemmore, we alsa
plan to continue to closely monitor our cash flows and, if necessary, we may implement certain incremental cost
savings to preserve our liquidity beyond those being implemented through the Revised Business Plans and our
2023 budget. While we currently expect we will be able to generate sufficient liquidity to fund our operations for
the next twalve months beyond the date hereof, we can provide no assurance we will successfully generate such
liquidity, or if necessary, secure additicnal outside capital or achieve incremental cost savings.
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Liguidity and Caplital Resources {continuad)
Gaoh flows
Operating activities

Our primary sources of opereting cash flows result from the sale of retail vehicles, wholesale vehicies and other
services we provide to customers. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities are purchases of inventory,
vehicle reconditioning gusls, marketing costs and personnel-related expenses.

Net cash used In oparating actlvities was £263.0 millon for the year ended 31 Decamber 2022 (£544 .6 milllion
for the year ended 31 December 2021).

The net cash used in operating activities during the year ended 31 December 2022 was primarily attributed to a
net operating cash outflow of £364.4 milion (outflow of £220.5 million for the year snded 31 Dacember 2021),
partially offset by a cash inflow from working capital movements of £88.7 million {outflow from working capital
movements of £324.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021),

Net operating cash flow represents the loss for the year of £839.6 million (loss for the year of £325.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021), adjusted for non-cash items of E475.2 million {£108.4 millicn for the year
ended 31 December 2021)

Qur nan-cash items include depreciation, amortisation and impairment of intangible assets, finance income,
finance expense, share-based payment expense, fair value movement In the Convertible Notes and embedded
derivative, falr value movement In the warrants and forelgn exchange movements, tax ¢redit, impairment loss on
remeasurement of the disposal group, Joss on sale of property, plant and equipment, loss on sale of discontinued
operalions, loss on sale and leaseback transactions and movement in provisions.

The cash Inflow from working capital movements for the year ended 31 December 2022 was largely due to a
raduction In Inventory as we wound down our operations in Europe and improved stock turn in the UK, whersas
the working capital cutilow for the year ended 31 December 2021 was driven by investment in inventory and
subscription vehicles, The remaining movement In working capital was due to movements in trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables and subscription vehiclss.

Investing actlvities

Net cash used in investing activitles was £75.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (£234.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021),

The net cash used in investing activities during the year ended 31 December 2022 was primarily attributed to the
acquisition of subsidiaries for £33.1 million net of the cash acquired, additions to property plant and equipment
of £33.6 million, as well as additions to intangible assets of £18.1 million,

Financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was £393.7 milllon for the year ended 31 December 2022 (E729.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021),

The net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended 31 December 2022 was primarily attributed
to the capital contribution from the parent company, Cazeo Group Ltd. In addition, there were proceeds from
stocking loans and subscription facllities. The net cash used in financing for the year ended 31 December 2022
was primarily atiributed to lease payments and the repayment of stocking loans and mortgages.
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Risk management

Cazoo is committed to ensuring that the key risks and threats faced by the Group are identified and continually
assessed, mitigated and monitored. The Beard is accountable for the risk managemaent practices of the Group
and it recognises that, in addition to the strategic and operational risks faced, the rapid growth experienced in
2022 inherently exposes Cazoo to an additional layer of risk, As such, Cazoo is continuously working to develop
and strengthen the enterprise risk management framework.

Strategic and Commearcial Rlsk

The Group’s future operating results depend on its success in implementing its strategic Initiatives. Cazoo is also
inherently exposed to a number of commercial risks, These risks are monitored closely by the Beard and
Executive team on an ongcing basls. They relate to areas such as:

« Reputaticn and brand image
+ Compstition and consumer trends
« Macroeconomic conditions

+ Reliance on third-parties

Mitigations for risks in these areas are embedded within the day-to-day processes and include the close
manitaring of the Group's key performance Indicators, market research, sensitivity analysis and the maintanance
of close relationships with key suppliers and partnars.

Operational Risk

Cazoo faces a number of operational risks which are monitored by the Board and the Executive team, Example
risk areas include:

Talant, recruitment and succession
Technology, systems and cyber security
Health and safety

Business disruption

To mitigate against thase risk areas the Group continuss to invest in its pecple, offering compelitive employment
packages and development opportunities to attract and retain the best talent, The Group is automating
processes and controls whersver possible and continues to invest in the data, IT and security infrastructure, as
well as in the core tachnology based systems used to drive and support the Group, Cazoo has implemented a
number of health and safety policies to protect its staff and carries out audits at each site to ensure they ara

operating effectively.

Reguiatery Risk

As a limited company and a consumer facing business, Cazoo is exposed to a number of regulatory areas, both
directly and indirectly. These include, but are not Iimited to, financlal conduct and reporting regulations,
employment law, data protection and health and safety,

To mitigate against the risks in this erea the Group is continuously reviewing its in-house capabilities as weli as
its processes and controis. In addition, Cazoo maintains close relationships with a number of specialist advisors,

Financial Risk

Financial risks are discussed in the Directors' Report on page 17,
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Risk management (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The following is a summary of certain, but not all, of the risks that could adversely affect our business, operations
and financial results. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that are not currently known or are
deemed to be immaterial, may individually and/or cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on tha Group.

Qur limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects

As a result of our Business Realignment Plan, the winddown of operations in mainland Europe and the
recently announced Revised 2023 Plan, our strategy has shifted from seeking to maximize our market
share in the UK and mainkand Europe to focusing an the UK market only and pursuing improvead unit
economics. We may have difficultios implemanting our strategy in the UK, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations

We have a history of losses and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the fulure

As pan of our Revised Business Plans we have shifted our focus to improving unit econgmics over driving
for maximumn growth. No assurance can be given that we will succeed in achieving any improvermnant in
our unit economics

QOur audited consolldated financial statements inciude a note regarding material uncertainly about our
ability to continue as a going concern

At such time as we may require additional capital 1o pursue our business objectives and respond 1o
business opportunities, challenges or unforeseen circumstances, such capital may not be avallable to
us, and therefore our business, operating results and financial condition may be materially adversely
affected

We rely, or may rely in the future, on various of forms of debt financing to operate our business, Including
car financing facllities, mortgage debt, capital leases and syndicated loans, and there is no guaranise
that such financing will be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. In additlon, our leverage
from any such facilities could adversely Impact our business, financial condition and results of operations
We may be unable to generate sufficient cash to fulfif our obligations under cur indebtedness, and we
may be unabie to incur additional ndsbtedness to fund future needs

Continued downturns in general aconomic and market conditions and reductions in spending may reduce
demand for our products

We may be unable to attract a sufficient audience t¢ our website in a cost-effective manner

Our business is dependent upon access to suitable vehicie inventory, including the appropriate inventory
mix, for resale to custoemers, Obstacles to acquiring suitabie inventory for resale to customers, whether
because of supply, competition, or other factors, could have a material adverse effet on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects

The success of our business relies heavily on the effectiveness of our marketing and branding efforts,
and these efforts may not be succassfud

Our business s dependent upon our abllity to recondition and sell inventery expeditiously and efficiently
Our business is sensitive to changes In the prices of new and used vehicles

If we are unable to adapt to and satisfy customer demands in a timely and cost-effective manner, our
abiliity to impreve our unit economics may suffer

We operate in 2 competitive industry. Increased competition in online car ssles ceuld increase our
marketing costs and affect our business, results of aperations and prespects

Loss of, or disruption to, our customer centres or vehicle preparation centres couid have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, resulls of operations and prospacts

Wae rely on key third-parnty suppliers for outsourced services to us as well as for value-added products to
our customers, and we cannot control the quality or fulfilment of these products

Wa rely on our cwn logistics to transport our vehicle inventory. Thus, we are subject 1o business risks
and costs associated with the transportation industry

We are highly dependent on our senior management team and other highly skilled personnei, and f we
are not successful In attracting or retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully
implement our business strategy

We will nead to continue to improve the capacity, speed, integration and automation of our reporting
systems and operational processes as wae rationslize our operations

Cyber breaches caused by malicious hacking could Jeopardize the integrity of our IT systems and the
security of our data
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Principal risks and uncertalnties (continued)

A significant disruption in service of our website and information technelogy systemns couki resullin a
disruption in our business and could have a materlal adverse effect on our results of operations

Failure to safeguard our customer and other perscnal data may result in reputational damage, financial
penalties, ciaims from individuals and litigation, and decrease in revenues

We have ldentified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting for the fiscal years
ended 31 Decemnber 2022 and 2021, which may result in material misstatements of our financial
stalements or cause us 1o fail to mest our reporting obilgations. If these material weaknesses are nct
remediated our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be adversely affected
Our operations may be adversely affected by legal, regutatory and other developments. Our non-
compliance with applicable tinancial regulations could have a material impact on us

Wae are subject to many hazards and operaticnal risks, Including accidents or incidents relating to health,
safety and the environment at our customer certres and vehicie preparation centres, that may disrupt
our businass, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations

Section 172 statement

The Directars of Cazoo Holdings Limited consider, in the context of & constitution of a Board, that they have
acted in goad faith to promote the success of the Group for the beneflt of its members with specific reference to
the Companies Act 2008 5172, in the decisions taken during the year ending 31 December 2022, including:

Employees

As of 31 December 2022, we had 3,226 employees. On 18 January 2023 we announced our Revisaed
2023 Plan, which included a reduction in headcount. Fellowing the implementation of that plan, as of 20
March 2023 we had 1,511 employees.

Ve aim to attract, retain and develop staff with the skills, experience and potential necessary to
implament our strategy.

Whan selecting and onboarding new employees, we communlcate our vision and core values that we
expect all staff to uphold, which is underpinned by a business-wide Code of Conduct and Ethics
supported by appropriate training programs.

We believe that engagement with staff on issues affecting the business is important for our culture and
success and aim to do so through regular group-wide and location-specific *all-hands® and “town hall®
sassions and other engagement platforrns,

We conduct regular employes surveys to gather feedback and benchmark results against leading
employers, setting clear action plans to ensure areas of focus are prioritised and progressed,

Customers

We are pioneering the shift to online car buying and selling by providing better selection, transparency
and convenience. Our aim is to make buying or selling a car no diffarent to ordering any other product
online, where consumers can simply and seamlessly buy, sell and finance a car entirely online for
delivery or collection,

Wa continue to focus on providing a positive custcmer experience measured through Cazoo's Trustpilot
reviews, We have a Trustpilot rating of 4.5* as of 31 Dacember 2022.

We have built a strong brand igentity and we achieved national brand awareness among potential used
car buyers in the UK of over B0% in 2022. Our marketing strategy has been one of our key investment
areas in order tc ralse our brand awareness and grow our customer base.

We have retained customer centras in the most geographically optimal locations in order to maximize
the number of customers who can came to a centre to pick up their car and to make our logistics network
more efficient,
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Suclivi 172 slatemant (continued)

Suppliers

We acqguire cars for sale from used-car auctions, corporate suppliers including vehicle finance, leasing,
rantal companias and OEMs. We aiso rely on key third-party suppliers for cutsourced services to us as
wall as for value-added products to our customers.

Wea work closaly with our supplisrs through regular meetings and updatas in order to control the guantity
and fulfliment of vehicles and value-added products.

Cominunily and environment

We are committed to being & responsible member of the communities in which we do business.

We recently moved all UK sites onto renewable electricity contracts and have implemented wide reaching
energy efficiency policies and reduction goais. We continue to monior and improve our delivery flest
utilization which has increased performance of fuel efficiency and route optimisation,

Throughout the year, our Employee Veolunteer Program has completed projects ecross a wide range of
sodial issues including lonseliness and elderly help, homelessness, eco pollution and youth mentoring.
The goal of our Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Commitiee is io oversee and support
our commitment to social, environmental, corporate social responsibility, sustainability and other public
and internal policy initiatives relevant to us.

Shareholders

The Group’s parent company, Cazoo Group Ltd, engages with shareholders through regular updates,
reporting and meetings through which shareholders can hear about our performance and put questions
t{o the Board of Directors.

This report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf.

Paul, Waolf

P Woeolf
Director

28 Apri 2023
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors present their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
Directors

Alex Edward Chesterman

Stephen Gavin Morana (resigned 31 October 2022)

Paul Antony Woolf (appointed 1 November 2022)

Directors' indemnitles

The Company maintaired liability insurance, which includes Indemnity for its Directors and Officers. This is a
qualtying third-party Indemnity provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006 and was In place
throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the financial statements.

Results and dividends

The Group's loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 was £839.6 million {2021: £329.0 million), Refer
to the Strategic report for further discussions of the Group's results and performance for the year.

No dividends were paid during the period. The Directors do not recommend a final dividend in respect of the
2022 financial year.

Performance and future developments

The Directors believe that Cazoo Holdings Limited is well positioned to continue n Its aim to transform the car
buying and selling experience across the UK,

The Directors' have had regard for the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers,
customers and others, and the effect of that regard, including on the princlpal decisions taken by the company
during the financial year.

Refer to the post balance sheet events section below.
Research and development
The Group continues to Incur expenditure on research and development in order to develop new products and

enhance its existing technology platform. The Group accounting policies on research and development are
disclosed in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements.

Political contributions
No political contributions were made during the year (2021: £nil).
Financlal risk management

The Group's operations involve varying levels of exposure 10 Interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of the Group’s risk management objectives are included within Note 24,

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is tha risk that changes In interest rates will affect the income and financial management of the
Group. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its stocking loans and subscriplion facilities where
interest is charged in referance to a base interest rate. Howavaer, the exposurs to interest rate risk is minimat
since the Group is in @ net cash position as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 and is therefore able
to reduce axposure through rapayment of the facilities. The Group does not hedge against interest rate risk. Refer
to Note 24 for more information.
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Financial risk managemant (continued)
Forelgn currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk through its remaining oparating
activities in Europe (where revenue and expenses are denominated in Euros) and through certain expenses
denominated in US dollars. The Group does not currently hedge against currency risk through the use of financial
instruments such as foreign currency swaps. Refer to Note 24 for more information,

Cradit risk

Credit risk Is the risk of financial loss to the Group i a customer or bank (“counterparty”) fails to meet Rs
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group is exposed o credit risk from its
operating activities {primarily trade recsivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions.

For retail and wholesale sales, the Group's exposure to credit risk is minimal since tha settiement of amounts
due for the sale of a vehicle to a consumer is completed priar to the delivery of the vehicle, The trade receivables
balance reprasents customer funds fo be received from our consumer finance partners and payment gateway
provider.

For subscription sales and third-party reconditioning, the expected credit losses are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group's histarical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the dabtors,
genera! economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as wel as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time valus of money whara appropriats,

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions Is managed in accordance with the Group’s treasury
pelicy. The Group's maximum exposure to credlt risk on cash and cash equivalents is the carrying amount of
cash and cash aquivalents on tha statement of financial position.

Liguidity sk

Liquidity risk refers to the abllity of the Group to mest the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled as thay fall due.

The treasury strategy of the Group Is to retain cash on the balance sheet by financing the purchase of inventory
and to maximize interest received while maintaining liquidity and flexibility in the availablity of funds. Refer to
Note 24 for more information.

Golng concern

The financial statements for Cazoo Holdings Limited (“the parent company”} and its subsidiaries (the “group”)
have been prepare'd an a gaing concern hasis, based on confirmation from Cazoo Group Ltd undertaking that
financial support will continue to be provided for a period of 12 months to the end of April 2024,

The Beard of Directors of Cazoo Group Lid ("CGL Group™) have approved a budget for the financiai year ended
31 December 2023 which targets a lower retail volume of 40,000-50,000 units compared to spproximately 65,000
unlts in the year ended 31 December 2022. This budget is designed to allow the CGL Group to focus on unit
economics through higher margin, faster moving inventory and rationalization of its operational footprint, In line
with the lower unit expectations for 2023 and the current economic climats, the plan to achieve the budgst
includes the closure of certain vehicie preparation centres, customer collection centres and further headcount
reductions, which are already underway. The plan is expected to deliver a significant reduction in the CGL
Group's cash consumption and continued progress towards the CGL Group's goal of reaching profitability,
without the need to ralse further axternal funding over the going concern periad to 30 April 2024. The 2023 budget
has a forecast cash balance of over £120 million at 31 December 2023. The 2023 budget has then been extended
through ta 30 April 2024, for the going concern assessment, with a forecasted cash balance of over £80 mitlion
at 30 april 2024,
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Going concern {continued)

Thae plan includes actions to Increase liquidity such as a prospective sale and leaseback of owned property, the
continued stocking financing of UK retail inventory and the unwinding of the UK subscriptions business to realise
cash from subscription vehicles currently in property, plant and equipment.

Given the stage of eveiution of the Cazoo Group Ltd, there are inherent uncertainties In forecasting operating
performance, including gross profit margin. Therefore, in assessing the appropriateness of the going concern
assumption, Managemant of the CGL Group (“Management’) have assessed the probabllity of achieving the
planned budget and the Impact if this is not achieved. To do so Management have developed a severe but
plausible downside scenario to the above base case, whereby the most sensitive assumptions have been flexed.
Thase include gross profit margin Increasing to only 5% (i.e., -3% to the base casge), increasing overhead costs
by £1 million per month (i.e,, +6% to the base case), and reducing the proceeds from the planned sale and
leasaback transactions by 50%. In 2022, gross margin of 2% was achiaved. As part of this downside scenario,
Management have not taken Into account pctential incremental cash impravements from the eary exit of closed
vehicle preparation centres and gustomer collection centres, or other measures such as expanditure reduction
which could improve kquidity as these have not been fully implemented. Under this downside scenario, the Cazoo
Group Ltd |s forecast to have cash of over £30 million at 30 April 2024. Whilst Management is confident that the
approved budget (base case) provides slgnificant liquidity for the CGL Group, the ability of the CGL Group to
salisfy its current liabilities and maintain sufficient daily liquidity, to mest stocking facility terms, Is dependent on
successfu! execution of the plan, Including actions which have not yet been impiementec nor are thay wholly
within management'’s control.

In the event that further actions to manage liquidity were to bae necessary in a downside scenario where the
mitigations mentioned above have not been sufficient, Management may seek to reduce discretionary marketing
spend, capex and/or headcount. Under all circumstances, Management will be seeking to sublet empty vehicle
preparation centres and customer collection centres and te improve the mainiand Europe exit plans. Management
believes these incremantal mitigating actions, in combination, couid glve rise to additional cash savings of over
£35 million In the perlod.

Therefore, downside scenarios such as those described, and certain inherent uncertaintles In forecasting
operating performance, including gross profit margin, and the status of implementing those plans described
above, combine to represent a material uncertainty over the CGL Group's ability to continue as a golng concern.
Managemant’s mitigation plans to alleviate the material uncertainty are not entirely within the Company's control
and so cannot be guaranteed.

In addition to the facters set out above, the going concern assessment also consldered the following two Key
matters that could materially impact the CGL Group's going concern assessment:

1) Cazoo Group Ltd utilises stocking finance to support inventory purchasing, In the UK, the business works with
four landers and had total available stocking facilties of £240 milion at 31 December 2022, of which £162
million was utlised. The stocking facilties have no fixed end date but are subject to annual review,
Management is proactively reducing the available facilities to reflect the iower sales volume in the approved
budget. There are no financial covenants attached to these facilities. However, certain of these stocking
facllties have triggers to revise the lcan-to-value terms if cash falls below a cartain level. If facilities were
reduced or withdrawn, Management could choose to cash finance inventory in the short-term or reduce overall
lavels of inventory held, both scenarios are under Management's control,

2) Cazoo Group Ltd has debt in the form of Convertible Notes which bear regular interest at afixed rate of 2,00%
per yaar, Holders of the Convertible Notes have the right to require the Company to repurchase for cash all
or a portion of their Convertible Notes at 100% of thelr principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest,
upon the occurrence of a Fundamental Change, which includes, among other things, if the Class A Shares
cease to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“"NYSE")}, (as defined in the Indenture, dated 16 February
2022, bet\n)/;:!en the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, Natlonal Association, as trustee (tha
“Indenture™)).
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Golng concern {continued)

A material uncertainty has been identifled relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt over the
Cazoo Group Ltd's abiiity to continue as a going concern and therefore over its ability to provide the required
financial support to the Cazoo Holdings Limited group and parent entity. Thus, there is a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt over the Cazeo Holdings Limited group and company's abllity to continue as a
going concern. Despite the existence of material uncertainty over the Cazoo Holdings Limited group and parent
antity's abiity to continue as a going concern, the Directors believe there is a reasonable prospect of Cazoo
Holdings group and parent entlty's continuing as a going concern through successful implementation of the plan,
described above, through to the end cf the going concern period 1o 30 April 2024, The Directors have considered
circumstances and events immediately after the going concern review pericd and have not identified any that
indicate that the going concern peried is inappropriate. The Directors have assessed Cazoo Group Lid's ability
to provide financial support ag part of this assessment. As a consequence, the accompanying financial
statements have been prepared on a going cencern basis, which contemplates the realisation of assets and
satisfaction of liabilitles in the ordinary course of business and Cazoo Group Ltd maintaining a listing on the
NYSE. The financial statements de not inciude any adjustments ralating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the cutcome of the
matarial uncertainty described above,

Post balance shoot events
Revised 2023 Plan

On 18 January 2023, the Group announced Iits revised FY 2023 plan which aims to improve tha unit economics
of the business. To enable these improvements, the Group reset its 2023 top line ambitions to 40,000-50,000 UK
retall units, allowing the Group to focus on higher margin and faster moving inventory and to rationalise its
operational footprint.

Sale of German subscription business

On 17 February 2023, the Group agreed to sell its German subscription tusiness, Clune GmbH, e VivelLaCar
GmbH and The Platform Group GmbH & Co. KG. The agreement inciudes 100% of the capital and voting rights
of the company Clune GmbH and the Cluna brand along with the assoclated assets. All employees of Cluno will
transfer to ViveLaCar GmbH as part of the agreement.

Sale of Cazana Data Piatform

©n 22 February 2023, the Group sold its third-party data platform, Cazana. The agreement includes the sale of
the Cazana brand, platform and commercial contracts.

Employees

As of 31 December 2022 we had 3,226 employees empicyed on a permanent or fixed term basis primarily located
in the UK, with further teams in Germany, Portugal, France and Spain. We hire a limited number of temporary
workers primarily at certain of our vehicle preparation centres, On 18 January 2023 we announced our Revised
2023 Plan, which included a reduction In headcount. Following the Implementation of that plan, as of 20 March
2023 we had 1,511 employees, of which 25 were based in France, 84 in Garmany, 4 in Portugal and 1,418 in the
United Kingdom,

Our success Is highly dependent on human capital and a strang leadership team. We aim tc attract, retain and
develop staff with the skills, experiance and potential necessary to implement our strategy. When selecting and
onboarding new employees, we communicate our vision and core values that we expect all staff to uphold, which
is underpinned by & business-wide Code of Conduct and Ethics supported by appropriate training programs. We
believe that engagement with staff on issues affacting the business is impartant for our culture and success and
alm to do so through ragutar group-wide and location-specific “all-hands” and “town hall” sessions and other
engagement platforms.

None of our employees are represented by a labour union and there have been no work stoppages to date. We
generally consider relations with our employees 1o be gocd.
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Employees {continued)
Divarsity and Inclusion

We're proud to be an inclusive, supportive and respectful employer and we are committed to growing and
nurturing our teaam to best represent the customers we serve and the communities in which wae operate. Our
diversity and inclusion strategy inchides empowering employses via Employee Resource Groups, building
knowledge and awarenass through external speakers anc accelarating hiring and progression of under-
represented groups by improving recruitment processes and working with expert partners.

The Group seeks 1o provide egual opportunity in employment for all qualified persons and 1o prohibit any form of
discrimination due {0 race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, sex or sexual orientation, disability, gender
reagsignment, marital or civil pariner status, pregnancy or maternity, religion/belief or age. QOur equal
opportunities policy is set out clearly in the Employee handbook and any employee who beliaves that they may
have been disadvantaged is encouraged to raise the matter through the Company's grievance procedure.

Environmental matters

For its financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has measured its UK carbon emissions to support its
disclosure obligations, as well as o support a8 managed reduction of its emissions impact and impact intensity in
relation t¢ its revenue and full-time employees,

The Group has reported on the Scope 1 and Scope 2 impacts from its offices, premises and vehicle usa, including
both fuel and electricity. Measurement has been undertaken ta report emissions under the Streamlined Enargy
and Carbon Reporting requirements and 1o inform the forward carbon emissions strategy of Cazoo.

Al measurements have been made using the UK Government GHG Reporting and Methodology for the
cenversion of activity data to carbon emissions equivalents in tonnes.

UK carbcn outputs for the Group are as follows:
2022 2021

Tonnes Tonnes
CO2e CO2e

Scope 1 - Direct GHG emissions 15,0986 6,831
Scope 2 - Indirect GHG emissions 2,328 1,493
Total Scope 1 and 2 17,424 8,324

The Group's carbon intensity per revenue and FTE intensity is derived from all reported UK operaticns impacts,

as follows:
Carbon intensity Measures 2022 2021
UK Tonnes CO2e per £100,000 of UK Revenue 1.40 1.27
UK Tonnes CQO2e per UK FTE 5.94 2.43

The] ciarbon intensity measures for the year ended 31 Decembar 2021 have been restated lo exclude Scope 3
emissions.

Total UK energy consumption for the year ended 31 December 2022 was 16,784,414 kwh (2021: 14,503,239
kv¥wh). The total energy consumption for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been restated ta correct for a
calculation error,

The report on the Company's emissions was prepared Internally, using preprietary data and calculated within a
Carbon Accounting System.
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Directors' responsibliities statement

The Directors are responsile for preparing the annual report and the financial statemants in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom law and reguiations.

Company law requires the Direclors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Diractors have elecled to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and the parent company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law), including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (“FRS 1017).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give & true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the group
and the company for that year,

In preparing these financial statements the Directers are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies in accordance with [AS 8 Accounting Palicies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors ang then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that providas relavant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

» provide additional disclosures when compliance with the spacific requirements in IFRSs and in respect
of the parent company financial statements, FRS 101 is insufficient to enable users to understand the
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the group and company financial
positien and financial performance;

« in respect of the group financtal statements, state whether international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Cormnpanies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material
dapartures disclossed and explained in the financial statements;

« in respect of the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting
Standards, including FRS 101, have been foliowed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial staternents: and

+ prapare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it Is appropriate to presume that the
company and/ or the group will nst continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s and Group's transactions and disciose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the Company and the Group financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are alsc responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irragularities.

Under appiicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic report,
Directors’ report that comply with that law and those regulations. The Directors are responsibie for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information incluced on the company’s website.
Disclosure of Information to auditors
Each of the persons who are Directors at the time when this Directors’ report is approved has confirmed that:
¢ so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's auditors are
unaware, and

+ the Director has taken ali the steps that ought to have been laken as a Director In order to be aware of
any ralevant audi information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.
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Audllnis
The auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the
Companies Act 2006,

This report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf.

Paul (Weolf
P Woolf

Director
28 April 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CAZOO
HOLDINGS LIMITED
For the year endod 31 December 2022

Opfinion

We have audited the finangial statements of Cazoo Hoidings Limited ('the parent company’) and fts subsidiaries
{the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise consolidated staterment of proftt or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated and company statement of financlal position, consolidated statement
of cash flows, consolidated and company statement of changes In equity and the correspending group notes 1
to 28 and 1 to 11 notes related to the parent company, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
The financial reparting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements s
applicabla law and UK adapted intemational accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 *Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally
Accapted Accounting Practice).

In cur opinion:

» the financial statements give a true and fair view of the group's and of the parent company's aftairs as
at 31 December 2022 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

« the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accardance with UK adopted international
accounting standards;

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies Act
2006,

Basls for opinion

We conducted our audt in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responstbllities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financlal statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical
Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements,

We balieva that the audit avidence wa have obtained Is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Golng Concern

We draw attention to Note 2.7 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Cazco Holdings group and
parent company’s ability to operate on a going concern basis is dependent ¢n continued support from Cazoo
Group Ltd but there is a material uncertainty over their ability ta provide the required support. The factors outlined
by management in Nate 2.7 which create the material uncertainty over the parental support are the Cazoo Group
Ltc's ability to:

« execute on the plan to improve unit economics, in particular to achieve the planned groess margin
improvements,

+ achieve a significant reduction in cash consumption through an ability to deliver the identified cash
savings through their mitigating actions and continued progress towards the Cazoo Group Ltd's goal of
reaching profitability, without the need to ralse fusther extarnal funding over the going concern period to
30 April 2024,

Without delivery of the plan and the mitigating actimns the Cazoo Group Ltd may not be able to continue to

generate sufficient funds to support the Cazoo Holdings group and parent company to repay their liabilities as
and when they fall due.
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Ag statod in Note 2.7, these events or conditions, indicate that a material uncertainty axists that may cast
significant doubt on the Cazoc Holdings group and parent company's ability to continue as a going congern. In
auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this reporl. However, bacauss not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this
statement is not a guarantee as to the company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Gther Information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 3 to 23, ather
than the financial statememts and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information contained within the annua! report,

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 1o the extent ctherwise
expiicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, considar whether the other Information is
materally inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we Identify such matarial inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement In the financial
statements themseives. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required te report that fact.

We have nothing to repor in this regard.
Oplnions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our opinion, basad on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

= the inforrnation given In the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared In accordance with applicable legal
requiremants.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or
directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the follawing matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you If, in our opinion:

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

« the parent company financial statements are not in agresment with the accounting records and returns;
or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

s wae have not received all the infermation and explanations we require for our audit.
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Responsibllities of directors

As explained more fully In the directors’ responsibillties statement set cul on page 22, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such intemnal controt as the direciors determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial
statemaents that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent
company's abllity to continua as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of acceunting unless the directors either intend te liquidate the group or the parent
company or 1o cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do sa.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financlal statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are fres
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue zn auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance Is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a materlal migstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error anc are considered material if, individually or In the aggregate, they could reascnably be
axpected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financlal statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detect/ng Irregularities, including
fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of hon-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our respansibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, Including fraud. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intenticnal misrepresentations, or through
collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailad
below. However, the primary responsibllity for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged
with governance of the entity and management,

Cur approach was as follows:

« We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the company
and determined that the most significant are those that relate to the reporling framework (International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008, FRS 101 and the
Companies Act 2006) and relevant tax compliance regulations.

+ We understood how Cazoo Heldings Limited s complying with those frameworks by making enquiries
of management, those charged with governance and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and
potentlal litigation and claims and reviewing supporting documentation such as the Group's code of
conduct; policles such as antl-fraud, anti-bribery, prevention of corruption and whistle-blower and
correspondences with regulatory authorities. We further understood the adoplion of accounting
standards and considered the compliance with the above laws,

» We assessed the susceptibfity of the Company's financial stalemants to material misstatement,
including how fraud might occur by performing enguiries of management and those charged with
governance aboul their knowledge of actual or potential frauds, obtaining undersianding concerning
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud through inquires and
professicnal judgement and using data analytics in cur testing of revenue and manual journals to
address tha risk of management override of controls. Further, we have used analytical procedures to
assess whether Judgement made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are outside the normal course of
business. As a result, we identified two fraud risks, one relating to potantial inappropriate revenue
recagnition, specifically relating to the risk associated with timing of revenus recognition around the
reperting date, including management's deferred revenue calculation and another relating to the
application of IFRS 15 to new commercial arrangements and related revenue streams.
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*

Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to Identify noncompliance with such
laws and reguiations and engaged Iinternal Forensics experts Our procedures involved reviewing
minutes from the Board of Directors, enquires of management and journals entry testing, with a focus
on manual journals and journals indicating significant unusual transitions identified by a specific risk
criterion based on our understancing of the business.

We designed our audit procedures to respond to the identified fraud risks, based on our understanding
through walkthrough procedures, we considered the controls that the company has established to
address the risk Ildentified, or that otherwise prevent, deter, and detect fraud; and how senior
management monitors these conirols. Our procedures considered risk assoclated with management
override, which was addressed through incorpeorating data analytics procedures to analyse revenue
transactions to confitn they were appropriately processed, recognised, and measured through
correlation of revenuse, trade receivables and vouching to cash and the performance of cut-off testing
around year end to ascertain whether revenue Is recorded in the appropriate period. Incremental
procedures were performed to validate the accuracy of management’s manual deferred revenue
calculations, through reconciliation of sales transactions and inventory stock count procedures, We also
chiained and reviewed executed contractual arrangements to assess the appropriateness of the IFRS
15 accounting with respect to the terms and conditions of these new arrangements. We have focused
our testing of journal entries and top-side adjustments on those meeting our defined risk criteria based
on our understanding of the company,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at https//www.frc.org.uk/auditorsrespansibilities, This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members
those matters we are required 1o state to them In an auditor's report and for no othar purpose. To the fullest
extent pemitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

72
Cus/ %%y #<7

Richard Addison (Senior statutory auditor}
for and on behalf of Emnst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

London

28 April 2023
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Yaar ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
E‘000 £000
Notes Restated’
Continulng operations
Revenue? 6 1,248,594 655,423
Cost of sales (1,228,324) {632,114}
Gross profit 20,267 23,308
Marketing expenses (62,596) (63,165)
Selling ang distribution expenses (96,246} (54,172)
Administrative expenses (519,489) (218,457)
Loss from operations 7 (658,064} (312,485)
Finance income 9 211 232
Finance expense g (11,989) (4,663)
Other income and expenses 10 6,752 -
Loss before tax (661,190) {318,9186)
Tax gredit 12 7,352 2,162
Lossg for the year from continuing operations (653,838) (314,754)
Discontinued operations
Loss after tax from discontinued cperations 13 (185,762} (14,217)
Loss for the year [839,600) (328,971)
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 6,449 (1,577}
Total comprehensive loss for the year {833,151) (330,548)

' The 2021 reporting pericd nas been restated to show the EU segment as a discontinued operation.

* Revenue exdudes £1.9 million of sales in 2022 whare Cazoo sold vehicles as an agent for hird parties and only the net commission

eceivad from those 3ales |s recorded within ravenue (2021: £17.4 milllon),
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At At
31 Decembar 31 December
2022 2021
Notes £000 £000
Assots
Non-current assets
Property, ptant and equipment 15 122,713 180,955
Right-ul-use assets 22 118,814 92,254
Intangible assets and goodwilt 16 16,369 261,514
Trade and other receivables 18 6,500 9,868
264,356 544,691
Current assets
Inventory 17 232,565 364,585
Trade and other receivables 18 65,375 77.884
Cash and cash equivalents 27 245,750 192,629
543,690 835,098
Assets held for salg 13 65,805 -
609,495 635,098
Total assets 873,891 1,179,789
Liabilities
Current liabilitieg
Trade and cther payables 19 65,567 90,579
Loans and borrowings 20 178,084 180,540
Lease liabilitias 22 28,598 18,826
Provisions 21 26,538 -
298,785 289,945
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale 13 39,6802 -
338,387 289,945
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 20 4,113 68,113
Lease liabilities 22 88,864 71,574
Provisions 21 8,752 7.985
Deferred tax 12 - a6
101,729 147,758
Total liabilities 440,116 437,703
Not assats 433,775 742,086
Share capital 23 . -
Share premium 23 888,371 888,371
Marger reserve 23 246,598 248,598
Capital contribution reserve 23 493,811 5,365
Retained earnings (1,199,877) (396,671)
Foreign currency translation reserve 4 872 {1,577)
Total equity 433,775 742,086
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The financial statements on pages 28 to 87 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 28 April 2023 and were signed cn Its behalf by:

Paud Woolf
P Woolf
Director
28 April 2023
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Feraign
Capltal currency
Share Share Merger contribution Retained translation Total
Note capital premium reserve reserve earnings resarve aquity

£'000 £:000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
At 31 December
202¢" - 266,120 181,250 - (116,872) - 330,498
Comprehansive
loss for the year
Loss for the year - - - - (328,971) - {328,971)
Other comprehensive
income - - - - - (1,577 {1,577
Contributions by
and distributions to
owners
Acquisition of
subsidiaries - - 65,348 5,365 - - 70,713
Exercise of warrants - 11,967 - - - - 11,967
ssue of share capital 23 - B10,284 - - - - 610,284
Exercise of options - - - - (1,540} - (1.540)
Share-based
payments 26 - - - - 43 287 - 43,287
Taxation recognised
directly In equity 12 - - - - 7,425 - 7,425
At 31 December
2021 - 888,371 246,598 5,365 (396,671) (1,577) 742,086
Comprehengive
loss for the year
Loss for the year - - - - {839,600} - (839,600)
Other comprehensive
income - - - - - 6,449 6,449
Contributions by
and distributions to
owners
Acquisition of
subsidiaries 14 - - - 23,051 - - 23,051
Capital contribution
from parent company - - - 465,485 - - 465,485
Share-based
paymants 26 - - - - 43,719 - 43,718
Taxation recognised
dirsctly in equity 12 - - - - {7,425 - {7,425
At 31 December
2022 - 888,371 248,588 493,911(1,199,877} 4872 433,775

! Prior to the Listing, he merger rsllaf section of the Campanies Act 2006 required that the difference betwsen the nominal valie and lssued

valye of the shares tagued for the acquisitions of Drover, SFS and Clune should be creditad to the marger resarve in aquity.

The notes on pages 34 to B7 form part of thesa financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 Decamber 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year from continuing opserations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations

Adjustments for;

Depreciation of property, plant and equipmenl and right-of-use
assets

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

Finance income

Finance expense

Share-based payment expense

Foreign exchange movements

Tax credit

Impairment loss on remeasurement of the disposal group
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Loss eon sale of discontinued operations

Loss on sale and jeaseback transactions

Increase in provisions

Movements in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) In trade and other recelvables
Dacrease/(increase) in inventory

Increase In subscription vehicles
(Dacrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Total working capital movemesnts

Other cash flows from operating activities:
Interest receivad

Tax credit recaived

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and aquipment
Disposals of property, plant and equipment
Purchages and development of Intangible assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries. net of cash acquired
Deferred consideration paid

Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed of
Proceads from sale and leasebacks

Proceeds from lease modifications

Net cash used in investing activities

Note

15, 22
16
9
9
26

12
13

13

21

18
17
15
19

15
15
16
14
19
13

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
{653,838) (314,754)
{185,762) {14,217)
§7,577 28,791
322,565 35,095
(2.131) (233)
16,008 5716
44,496 43 871
(6,752) -
{10,012) (5,704)
2,518 -
2,879 -
14,509 -
1,934 -
31,846 -
{364,163) (220,535)
10,682 (23,192)
165,213 {247,745)
(54,132) {80,925)
(23,054) 27,555
98,709 (324,307)
2,131 233

501 -
{263,022} {544,609)
{(33,625) {29,466)
B,320 -
{18,133) (14,280)
{33,142) (190,934)
(5.554) -
{9,669) -
10,752 -
5,520 -
{75,531) {234,660)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
For tha year ended 31 December 2022

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Note £000 £'000

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceads from capital contribution from parent company 465,495 -
Issue of ordinary shares 23 - 610,284
Proceeds from wamants exercised from Drover acquisition - 5,300
Exercise of sharae options 26 - (1,540)
Proceeds from stacking loans 24 1,202,039 665,325
Proceeds from subscription facilitios 24 101,867 107,683
Proceeds from secured asset financing, bank loans and mortgages 24 5,985 -
Repayment of stocking loans 24 (1,218,427) {574.,055)
Repayment of subscription faciiities 24 {120,559) (60,3886)
Repayment of secured asset financing, bank loans and mortgages 24 (3.862) (683)
Interast paid on loans and borrowings 20 (10,799} (4,185)
Lease payments 22 (29,198} (18,5897}
Excess procseds above fair value from sale and leasebacks 1,088 -
Net cash from financing activities 393,727 729,146
Net [ncreass/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 55,174 {50,123}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 27 192,629 243,524
Net foreign exchange difference 10,389 (772)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 27 258,192 192,629
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 Decombaer 2022

1. Moporting witily

Cazoo Holdings Limited (registered nc. 12450682) (“the Company”) is a privale limited company incorporated in
the United Kingdom incorporated on 7 February 2020. The Company's registered office is at 41 Chalton Street,
London, NW1 1JD, United Kingdom. The Group’s principal activity is the operation of an e-commerce platform
for buying and selling used cars,

The financial statemants incorpurale the accounts of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (“its
subsidlaries"). The term “Group™ means Cazoc Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

The Listing

On 29 March 2021, Ajax |, a Cayman lslands exempted company (“Ajax"). Cazeo Holdings and Capri Listco, a
Cayman Islands exernpted company (“Listcc"), entered Into the Business Combination Agreement (the “Business
Combination Agreement”), as amended by the First Amendment thereto, dated as of 14 May 2021 which, among
other things, provided that (i} Ajax would merge with and inta the Company, with the Company continuing as the
surviving company, (li) the Company would acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cazoo Holdings
via exchange for a combination of shares of the Company and cash consideration and (li} the Company would
become tax resident in the UK following the consummation of the Listing.

Upon consummation of the Listing, sharehclders of Ajax and Cazoo Holdings became shareholders of Listco,
and Listco changed its name to “Cazoo Group Ltd.” Upon consummation of the Listing Class A ordinary shares,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “Class A Shares”) becama listed on the NYSE under the symbot “CZ0O0O".

The Listing was not considered a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 because Listco was not
considered a business, and Instead was accounted for as a reverse acquisition. Under this methed of accounting,
Cazoo Holdings Limited was considered the accounting acguirer and predecessor entity.

2. Significant accounting peolicies
2.1 Basis of preparation

These consclidated financial statements have besn prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requiraments of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They were authorised for issua by the Company's Board
of Directors on 28 April 2023.

Details of the Group's accounting policies are included in Note 3.

in preparing these financial statements, management has made judgemants, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of the Group's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. The aregas where
judgements and estimates have been made In preparing the financial statements and their effect are disclosed
in Note 4,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.2 Basis of consoildation

Tha consoiidated financial statements comprise the financlal statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2022, Control is achleved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involverment with the investee and has the ability to affect those raturns through its power cver the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investes if, and cnly if, the Group has:

* Power over the investes
« Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

« The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returmns
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 1o bring their accounting
policias In line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and Habilities, equily, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consoliiation.

A change In the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a Ioss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction,

The results of subsidiaries acquired are included from the date the Group obtained control of the subsidiary.
23 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the histotical cost basis, except for financial assets, financial
liabilities and share-based payments that have been measured at fair value.

24 New and amended atandards and interpretations

The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issuad but is not yet
affectiva. Several amendments apply for the first time in 2022, but do not have an Impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

+ Reference to the Concaptual Framewark — Amendmernts to (FRS 3

s Property, Plant and Equipment: Procesds before Intended Use — Amendments to AS 16

» Onerous Cortracts — Costs of Fulfiing a Contract — Amendments to |1AS 37

¢ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Fees in the *10 per cent” test for derecognition of financial liabilities

2.5 Standards Issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are Issued, but not yet effective, up 10 the date of the
issuance of the Group's financial statements are listed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and
amended standards, if applicable, when they become effective. The new standards and amendments are not
expected to have a material impact on the Group.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023:

« Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current ar Non-current

s Definition of Accounting Estimales — Amendments to IAS 8

s Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendmaents to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
2.6 Presentational currency

These financial stataments are presented in Pounds Sterling, which Is the Group's funstional currency, All
amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Far the year ended 3* December 2022

2.7 Goling concarn

The financial statements for Cazoo Holdings Limited (“he parent company") and its subsiliaries {the “group”)
have been prepared on a going concem basis, based on confirmation from Cazoo Group Ltd undertaking that
financlal support will continue to be provided for a period of 12 months to the end of April 2024,

The Board of Directors of Cazoo Group Ltd ("CGL Group™} have approved a budget for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 which targets a lower retail volume of 40,000-50,000 units compared te approximately 65,000
units in the year ended 31 December 2022. This budget is designed to allow the CGL Group to focus on unit
sconomics through higher margin, faster moving inventory and rationalzation of s operational foolprint, In fine
with the lowsr unlt expectations for 2023 and the current economic climate, the plan to achieve the budget
includes the closure of certain vehicie preparation centres, customer collection centres and further headcount
reductions, which are already underway. The plan is expected to daliver a significant reduction in the CGL
Group’s cash consumption and continued progress towards the CGL Group's geal of reaching profitability,
without the need to raise further external funding over the going concern period to 30 April 2024. The 2023 budget
has a forecast cash balance of over £120 million at 31 December 2023, The 2023 budget has then been extended
through to 30 April 2024, for the going concern assassment, with a forecasted cash balance of over £80 million
at 30 April 2024.

The plan includas actions t¢ increase liquidity such as a prospective sale and leaseback of owned property, the
continued stocking financing of UK retall inventory and the unwinding of the UK subscriptions business to realise
cash from subscription vehicles currently in property, plant and equipment.

Given the stage of evolution of the Cazoo Group Lid, there are Inherent uncertainties in forecasting operating
performance, including gross profit margin, Therefore, in assessing the appropriateness of the going concem
assumption, Manageament of the CGL Group {("Management”} have assessed the probability of achieving the
planned budget and the Impact if this is not achleved. To do so Management have developed a severe but
plausible downside scenario to the above base case, whereby the most sensitive assumptions have been flaxed.
These include gross profit margin increasing to only 5% (i.e., -3% to the base case), Increasing overhead costs
by £1 million per menth (i.e., +6% 1o the base case), and reducing the proceads from the planned sale and
leaseback transacticns by 50%. In 2022, gross margin of 2% was achiaved, As part of this downside scenario,
Management have not taken into account polential incremental cash iImprovements from the early exit of closed
vehicle preparation centres and customer collection centras, or other measures such as expenditure reduction
which could improve liquidity as these have not bean fuily implemented. Under this downside scenario, the Cazoo
Group Ltd is forecast to have cash of over £30 million at 30 April 2024. Whiist Management ig canfident that the
approved budget (base case) provides significant liquidity for the CGL Group, the ability of the CGL Group to
satisfy its current fiabllittes and maintain sufficiant daily liquidity, to meet stocking facility terms, is depsendsnt on
successful execution of the plan, including actions which have not yet been implemented nor are they wholly
within managemaent’s control,

In the event that further actions to manage liquidity were to be necessary in a downside scenario where the
mitigations mentioned above have not been sufficient, Management may seek to reduce discretionary marketing
spend, capex and/or headcount. Under all circumstances, Management will be seeking to sublet empty vehicla
preparation centres and customer collection centres and to improve the mainland Europe exit plans. Management
believes these incremental mitigating actions, In combination, could give rise 1o additional cash savings of over
£35 milllon In the period.

Therefore, downside scenarios such as those described, and certain inherent unceriainties in forecasting
operating performance, including gross profit margin, and the status of implemanting those plans described
above, combine to represent a material uncertainty over the CGL Group's abllity to cortinue as a going concern.
Management's mitigation plans 1o alleviate the material uncertainty are not entirely within the Company’'s control
and so cannot be guaranteed,

In addition to tha factors set out above, the going concern assessment also considered the following two key
matters thal could materially impact the CGL Group's golng concern assessment:
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2.7 Going concern {cantinnad)

1) Cazoo Group Lid utilises stocking finance to support inventory purchasing. In the UK, the business works with
four lenders and had total available stocking facilities of £240 millian at 31 December 2022, of which £162
milion was utilised. The stocking facifties have no fixed end date but are subject to annual review,
Manageament is proactively reducing the avallable facllitles to reflect the lower sales volume in the approved
budget. There are no financlal covenants attached to these facilities. However, certain of these stocking
facilities have triggers o revise the loan-to-value terms if cash falls below a certain lavel. If facilities were
reduced or withdrawn, Management could cheose to cash finance Inventory in the shart-term or reduce overal
levels of inventory held, both scenarios are under Management's cantrol.

2

—

Cazoo Group Litd has debt in the form of Convertible Notes which bear regular interest at a fixed rate of 2.00%
per year, Holders of the Convertible Notes have the right to require the Company to repurchase for cash all
or a portion of their Convertible Notgs at 100% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest,
upon the cccurrence of a Fundamental Change, which includes, among other things, if the Class A Shares
cease to be listed on tha New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), (as definad in the Indenture, dated 16 February
2022, between the Company and U,S, Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the
“Indenture”)).

A material uncertainty has been identified relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt over the
Cazoo Group Lid's ability to continue as a going concemn and therefore over its ability to provide the reguired
financial support to the Cazoo Holdings Limited group and parent entity. Thus, there is a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt over the Cezoo Hoeldings Limited group and company’s ability to continue as a
going concarn. Despite the existence of material uncertainty over the Cazoo Holdings Limited group and parent
entity’s abllity to continue as a golng concern, the Directors believe there is a reasonable prospect of Cazoo
Holdings group and parent entity's continuing as a going concern through successful impiementation of the plan,
described above, through to the end of the going concern period to 30 April 2024. The Directors have considered
circumstances and events immediately after the going concern review period and have not identified any that
indicate that the going concern period is Inappropriate. The Directors have assessed Cazoo Group Ltd's ability
to provide financial support as part of this assessment. As a consequence, the accompanying financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realisation of assets and
satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business and Cazoo Group Lid maintaining a listing on the
NYSE. The financial statements do not Include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result fram the cutcome of the
material uncertainty described above.
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2.8 Subsidiaries exempt from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2008

The Company’s subsidiaries set out bejow are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act relating to
the audit of the individual accounts under section 479A of the Companies Act 2008, Cazoo Holdings Limited has
given a guarantee under section 473C and all members of the subsidiaries agree to the exemption of an audit
for the year ended 31 December 2022, Befow are the subsidiaries exempt under this Act:

Name Registration Numbar
Cazoo |td 11824245
[ Cazoo Subscription Services Limited 09829742
Fantastic Cars Limitad 11358375
Imperlal Car Supermarkets Limited 09637404
Cazoo Properties Limited 08526325
"Carsaz Limited 11666043
Imperial Cars of Swanwick Limited 05740108
vans 365 Limited 10506325
Project Chicago Newco Limited 11328349
Arctos Holdings Limited 09382555
Cazoo Support Services Limited 03633817
Meorgate House (Newco) Limited 10808367
Ensco 1109 Limited 08382142
I—G—BJ Davelopments Limitad 08327894
SMH Fiaet Solutions Limited 04526612
"CD Auction Group Limited 02354629
Cazoo Wholesale Services Limited 13090429
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3 Accounting policles
3.1 Revenue

Thae Group evaluales revenue from contracts with customers based on the five-step modsl under IFRS 15: (1)
identify the contract with the customer; (2) identify the performanca obligations in the contract; (3) determine the
fransaction price; (4) aliocate the transaction price to the separate performance cbligations; and (5) recognise
ravenuas whan (or as) each performance obligation is satisfled.

Ravenue is measurad basaed onthe consideration the Group expects to be entitled to in a contract with a custormer
and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers
control over a produdt or service to a customer,

Retall

The Group sells reconditioned vehicles directly to its customers, primarily through its online platform. The prices
of vehicles are set forth in the customer contracts at stand-alone selling prices, which are agrsed prior to delivery.
The Group satigfles its performance obligations for vehicle sales upon delivary when the transfer of title, risks,
and rewards of ownership and control pass ta the customer. The Group recognises revenue at the agreed-upen
purchase price stated inthe contract less an estimate for returns, Estimates for returns are based on an analysis
of historical experlence, trends and sales data. Changes in these estimates are refiected as an adjustment to
revenue In the period identified. The amount of consideration received for vehicles includes non-cash
consideratlon representing the value of part exchange vehicles, if applicable. The value of part axchange vehicles
is agreed by the customaer at the time of purchase and is stated In the contract. Pricr to the delivery of the vehicle,
the payment is received, or financing has been arranged. Revenus is recognised net of sales tax,

Retail revenue also includes the fixed commission from the sale of a small number of vehicles where Cazoo acts
as an agent, Under IFRS 15 only the net commission received from these sales is recorded within revenue, with
100% of that revenus contributing towards gross praofit.

Contract liabilities relate to undelivered retall orders. Contract liabilities are recognised at the point when cash is
received for the order and are derecognised into revenue upon delivery ta the customer.

Retail revenue also comprises ancillary products (including financing commission, warranty commission, paint
protection and any add-ons), together with delivery charges and admin fees. Ancillary revenues were previously
includad in “Other sales”, The comparatives for 2021 have been restated for consistency.

Customers purchasing vehicles from the Group may enter into a contract for finance or enter a contract to extend
their warranty after the initial 90-day inclusive period through the Group's platform. The Group acts as an agent
and receives a commission for the arrangement of these contracts from the principal. The Group recognises
commission revenue at the time of sale, net of a reserve for estimated contract cancellations. The reserve for
cancellations is estimated based upon historical experience and recent trends and Is reflacted as a reduction in
revenue. Changes in thesa astimates are reflected as an adjustment to revenus In the period identifled,

Contract assets relate to commission revenue earned but not involced at the period end. The commission earned
is conditional upon the delivery of the vehicle to the custemer and no returm belng made by the customer,

Wholesale

The Group sells vehicles through car auctions to trade and other buyers. The vehicles soid via auction are
primarily acquired from customers as part-exchanges or through our direct car buying channel that do not mest
the Group's quality standards to list and sell as retail vehicles. The Group satisfies its performance obligation for
wholesale sales when the purchaser obtains control of the underlying vehicle which is at the peoint the vehicle is
s0kd al auction.
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3.1 Revenue {continued)
Qther sales

Other sales comprises revenue from walk-in servicing, subscription services, third-party reconditioning and the
provision of data services.

At the Group's customer cantres, vehicle servicing products are offered inciuding interim, full and major servicing,
MCT tests, general repairs and one-off checks and treatments. The Group satisfies Its performance obligations
at the point the agreed work is complated. The Group recognises revenue at the agreed purchase price net of
sales tax.

The Group provided third-party reconditioning services during the year. The Group satisfies its performance
obligations at the point the agreed werk is completed.

Revenue from subscription services Is recognised under IFRS 16 and as such is recognised on a straight-fne
basis over the contract period. The subscription servica atiows customers to subscribe for a vehicle over a period
of time for a monthiy fee as an alternative to ownership. Revenue from the provision of related servicas such as
maintenance and breakdown are recognised separately in accordance with IFRS 15 — over time, as the service
is provided.

The Group also provides dala services whereby customers access selected Cazoo vehicle data for a monthily
fes. Revenue is recognrised in accordance with IFRS 15 based on actual data usage for these contracts.

3.2 Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily relates to vehicle acquisition costs and reconditioning costs, as well as any necessary
adjustments to reflect vehicle inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Vehicle raconditioning costs
are the direct costs associated with preparing the vehicles for resale and typically include the cost of parts, labor
and inbound transportation costs, Cost of sales also includes the cost of providing drive-away insurance, fuel,
vehicle warranty, buyers fees, and other costs incurred (n providing ancillary products and services. Cost of sales
also includas the depreciation of cars out on subseription.

3.3 Leases
Group acting as a lessee

The Group assesses at contract Inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a pericd of time in exchange for consideration,

The Group appiies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. Tha Group classifies assets with value less than £5,000 as low-value. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencament date of the lease (i.e. the date the undertying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any rameasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assels
incluges the amount of lease liabilities recognised, Iinitial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives racelved. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on &
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Leasehold property 1 =20 years
Fixtures and fittings 5 years
Subscription vehicles 1 -3 vyears
Other motor vahicles 4 years
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3.3 Leasos {continuad)

The estimated useful life of |leasehold property has decreased in the year ended 31 December 2022 as a result
of lease modifications during the year,

Depreciation of right-of-use subscription vehicles Is recognised within cost of sales in the statemant of profit or
loss. Depreciation of other right-of-use assets is recognised within operating expenses In the statement of profit
or loss.

Lease labilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to ba madae over the lease larm. The lease payments include fixed payments {(including in-
substance fixad payments) less any lease incantives recaivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
Index ar a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantess, Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or & rete are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce invantory)
in the period In which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

Interest on lease habilitles is recognised within finance expense in the statement of profit or loss.
Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction Is one where the Group sells an asset and immediately reacquires the use of
the asset by antering into a lease with the buyer, The Group accounts for sale and leaseback transactions in
accordance with IFRS 16. The Group derecognises the underlying asset when it satisfles the criteria for the
transfer of control to the buyer In accordance with IFRS 15, The Group recognises the galn or logs, If any, that
ralates to the rights transferred to the buyer and adjusted for off-market terms. The Greup recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease lability for the leaseback.

Group acting as a lassor

The subscription of vehicles to customers is recognised under IFRS 16. When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at the lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating leasa.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an cverall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying assat, If this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assassment, the Group considers certain
indicators such as whsther the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Group I8 an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its Interasts in the head lease ard the sub-lease
separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with referance to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease Is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the short-term lease exemption, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group apples IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as revenue on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as part of “Other sales”,

The Group recognises finance income over the lease term, reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group's net investment in the lease, The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS
9 to the net invastment in the lease. Tha Group further ragularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residua! values
used in calcutating the gross investrnent in the lease.
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34 Employana banafits
Short-term and long-tarm employee benefits

A llability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual isave and
sick leave in tha pericd the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid In exchange for that service,

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service,

Deflned contribution schemes

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemas are charged to the statemant of comprehensive income
in the period to which they relate.

3.5 Share-based payments

Equity-seitled share-based paymants to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at
the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-seftled share-based payments is expensed on 2
straight-line basls over the vasting period, based on the Group's astimate of equity (nstruments that will eventuaily
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting pariod, the Group revises its astimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in the statement of proft or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment {0 the retained earnings.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likellhood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair valus.

Save As You Earn (“SAYE") schemea

The SAYE schema Is accounted for as an equlty-settled share-based payment schema. The fair value daterminad
at the grant date of the SAYE schamae is expensed on a straighl-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a coresponding increass in equity, The fair
value is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.

3.6 Govarnment grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. The Group received subsicdies for electric
subscription vehicles from the German government during the year. Amounts received are initlally recognised as
deferred income and then racognised in the statement of profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.

In the prior years, the Group received funds in connection to the Job Retention Scheme launched as part of the

UK Government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Amounts received were recognised net within the
statemnent of profit or loss as income or a reduction to expenses.

42



CeocuSign Envelope ID: 8F112B7E-ACDE-4AB5-84BD-5F5548340D17

Cazoo Holdings Limitod (Registersd Nu. 12450882)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the yaar ended 31 December 2022

3.7 Taxation
Income tax expense reprasents the sum of the tax currentty payable and deferred tax.

Currant tax

The tax curently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax™
as reported in the statomont of profit or kisy und other comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other yaars and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
cutrent tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantivaly enacted by the end of the

reparting parind,
Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilitles are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liabllity in the
consolidated statement of financlal posttion differs from its tax base, except for diffarences arising on:

+ the initial recognition of goodwill;
the initial recognition of an asset or lability in a ransaction which is not a business combination and at
the time of the transaction affects naither accounting or taxable profit; and

« investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Racognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the differgnce can be tilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the reperting date and are expected to apply when the deferrad tax assets are recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset curent tax
agsets against current tax liabilities and when deferred Income tax assets and liabilities relate to incomes taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities whers there is
an intention to settle balances on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the statemant of profit or loss, except when they relats to items that
are recogrised In cther comprehensive income or directly in equity, In which case, the current and deferred tax
are also racognised in other comprshensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the inlt!al accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

3.8 Cash and cash squivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprises cash at banks and short-term highly

liquid depcsits with @ maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
subject to Insignificant risk of change in value.
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3.9 Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with
IFRS 3. The conslideration for each acquisition Is measured at the aggregate of fair values of assets given,
llabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition related costs other than those assoclated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are
recognised in the consolidated statemant of comprehensive income as incurred.

At the acquisition date the identiflable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value
with the exception of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are measured in accordance with |IAS 12 - income
taxes. Identifiable net assets include the recognition of any separately identifiable intangible assets.

Deferred and contingent consideration are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Where the amounts
payable are classified as a financlal liability any subsequent change in the fair value Is charged/credited to the
Group's consolidated statement of comprehensive income, Amounts classified as equity are not subsequently
remeasured. Whera consideration to management shareholders is contingent on thair continued employment the
amount is recognised as a remuneration expense in the stalement of comprehensive incoma over the deferral
period,

3.10  Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accurnulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses,

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted
for as separate items {major components) of proparty, plant and equipment. Any gain or loss on disposal of an
tem of property, plant and equipmaent Is recognisad in the statement of profit or loss, Subsequent expenditure is
capitalized only if it is probable that the future eccnomic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Group.

Subscription vehicles are transferred from property, plant and equipment fo inventory at their carrying amount
when existing subscription contracts come to an end.

Depreciation is provided on ail items of property, plant and equipment so¢ as to write off their carrying value over
their expected useful economic lives. it is provided at the following range:

Freshold buildings 50 years
L.easehold improvements 5 - 50 years
Fixtures and fittings 3-15 years
Computer equipment 1-5years
Subscription vehicles 1-13 years
Other motor vehicles 1 - § years
Plant and machinery 3~ 15 years

The residual valuss and economic jives of assets are reviewed on an annual basis. Freehold land is not
depreciated.
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311 Intangibio nosets and goodwill
Intangiblie assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumutated
amortisation and accumulated Impairment losses. Amortisation Is recognised on a straight-ine basis over their
estimated useful lives. Amortisation is recognised within operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss,
The wslimatled useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Domain names 1 -5 years
Development cosis and software 3-10C years
Customer relationships 1 year
Brand 1 year

Internally-generataed intangible assots
Expenditure on research activities Is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is Incurred.

An internally-gensrated intangible asset arising from devalopment (or from the development phase of an internal
project) is recognisad if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

the tachnical feasibility of completing the Intangible asset so that it will be availabis for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or ssl! the intangible asset,;

how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

the availabilty of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use or sel the intangible asset; and

» the ability to measure reliably the expendilure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

s o 5 & 0

The amount inttially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets Is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listad abave. Expenditure includes
both employeas of the Group and external contractors contributing to the development projects. Where no
Internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised In the statement
of profit or koss in the paricd in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets ara reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basls as intangible assets that are acguired
saparately,

Goodwlll

Goadwill arising on a business combination represents the difference between the fair value of the consideration
paid and tha fair valus of assets and llabilities acquired and is recorded as an intangible asset. Goodwill is not
subsequently subject to amartisation but is tested for impairment annually and whenever the Directors have an
indication that it may be impalred. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the cash-
generating units expected lo benefit from the ccmbination. Any Impalrment in carrying value is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive incoma,
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312  lmpalrment of tanyible and intangible assets other than goodwill

Al the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the camrying amounts of Its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any Indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When It is not possihle to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverabie amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, When a
reasonabiu aitd consistent basis of allocation ¢an be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-genarating units, or gtherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-genserating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allacation bas!s can be identified.

Intangible assets not yet avallable for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whanever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and valug in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their presant value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current marke! assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted,

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) Is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the camying amount of the asset (or cash-gensrating unit) Is reduced to Its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss,

When an impairment loss subseguently reverses, the camying amount of the asset (or a cash-genaerating unit) Is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does nat
exceed the carrying amount that would have been detarmined had no impalrment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately In the
statement of profit or loss.

3.13  Inventory

Inventory consists of vehicles purchased, direct and indirect vehicle reconditioning costs, including parts and
labour and inbound transportation costs.

inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The costs of inventory are determined by specific
identification, Net realisable value s the estimated selling price less costs to gomplete and transpert the vehicles.
Selling prices are derived from historical data and rends, such as sales price and inventory turn times of similar
vehicles, as well as independent market data. Each reporting period the Group recognises any necessary
adjustmants to refiect vehicle inventory at the lower of cost or net realisable value through cost of sales,

314 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present abligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group wiil be required to settle the obiigation, and a reliable estimate can be made
cf the amount of the cbligation,

The amount recognised as a provision Is the best astimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting peried, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using tha cash flows estimated to settla the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of thase cash flows (when the effact of the time value of monay is material).
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3.15 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabllties are recognised when an entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are inkially measured at fair value, Transactlon costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisltion or issue of financial assets and financial jiabllities {other than financla! assets and
financial llabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or daducted from the fair value of the financiat
assets or financial kabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value are recognised immediately in the statement of
profit or loss.

Financlal assets

All recognised financial assats are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financlal assets.

Classification of financial assets
Financial assats that meet the following cenditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

« the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

« the cantractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at falr vatue through other
comprehensive income {“FVOCI™):

+« the financial asset Is held within a business madel whose objective is achleved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

« the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and effective Interest method

Interest Income is recognised using the effective interast methed for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financlal assets, Interest income is
calkculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. interest
income Is recognised in the siatement of profit or loss within finance income.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expacted credit losses on trade receivables, other receivables, and
accrued income. The amount of expected credit loss Is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since the inltial recognition of the respective financlal Instrument,

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit josses ("ECL") for trade receivables, other receivables, and
amounts due from customers under contracts, The expected credit iosses on thase financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general sconomic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of condltions at the reporting date, including time value of meoney where appropriate.

Lifatime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible defauit events over tha
expected life of a financial instrumant.
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315 Financial luabuiments {continued}
Significent increase in credit risk

In assessing whaether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group comparss the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial asset as at the date of initlal recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reascnable and supportable.

Financial llabiiities

All financlal liabllities are subsaquently measured at amortised cast using the effective interest method or at fair
value through profit cr less (“FVTPL").

Financial Habliities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financlal liabilities that are not {l) contingent consideration of an acguirer in a business combination, (i) held for
trading, or {iil) designated as at FYTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost uging the effective interast
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financlal fiablility and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effactive interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future
cash payments (including all fees and points pald or received that form an Integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expectad lffe of the financial liability, or
(where approprlate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Dorecognition of financial llablliies

The Group derecognises financlal liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired, The diffarence between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transfemed or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Fair value measurement

All assets and fabilities for which fair value |s measured or disclosed in the financial statemants are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whols:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices In active markets for identical assets or llablllties

Lavel 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable
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310 Duainess seyinwils

The Board of Diractors has been identified as the Group's chisf operating decision maker. The monthly reporting
pack provided to the Board has been used as the basis for delermining the Group's operating segments. The
key financial performance metrics monitored by the chief operating decision maker include revenue, gross profit,
operating expenses and adjustad EBITDA.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 there was a change in the segmentation of the Group following the
launch of the Cazoo retall proposition in Europe. The monthly reporting pack provided to the Board disaggregated
the performance of the business on a UK and EU basis. Management has therefore determined that there exist
two oporating segments, UK and CU,

The UK segment’s results are equivalent to the Group's results from continuing operations which are disclosed
in the statement of profit or loss. The EU segment has been classified as a discontinued cperation and the Group
has not disclosed the results within the segment disclosures in Note 11 In accordance with IFRS 8.

3.17 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifles non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their camying amounts will be
recovered principally through @ sale transaction rathar than through continuing use. Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly atiributable to the disposat of an asset (disposal
group). excluding finance expense and income tax expense.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met anly when the sals is highly probable, and the asset
or disposal group is available for Immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required o complete the sale
should indicate that It Is unlikely that significent changes to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will
be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be
completed within one year from the date of the classification.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for
sale.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current tems in the statement of
financial position.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single
amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.

Addltional disclosures are provided in Note 13. Al other notes to the financial statements Inciude amounts for
continuing operations, unless indicated otherwise.

When the Group loses control over a subsidlary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidlary, and
any components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is reccgnised in the statement of profit or loss.
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3.18  Forelgn currency
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are transiated Into the Group's functional currency (Pounds Sterling} at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transiated into the functionai currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date, Non-monetary assets and liabllities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in foreign currenicy are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differances are racognised in the statement of profit or loss and preserted within other income
and expeanses.

Forelgn operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign (non-UK) oparations, including geodwill and fair value adjustments arising‘on
acquisition, are transiated at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions,

Forelgn currency cifferences are recognisad In other comprehensive income and accumulated in the transiation
researve,
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4 Arcounting jJudgemeonts and estimatos
41 Judgements
Revenue recognition — Principal / agent arrangements

The process of determining whather Cazoo acts as a principal or agent in certain transactions requires detailed
anaiysis of the specific facts and circumstances of the transaction concerned. Management judgement is applied
in the assessment of the transaction against the three indicators in IFRS 15:

+ Assessmant of whether Cazoo is primarily respcnsible for fulfiling the promise to provide the specified
good or service,

« Assaessment of whether Cazoo has inventory risk bafore the specified good or service has been
transferred to a customer or after transfer of control to the customer,

+ Assessment of whether Cazoo has discretion in establishing the price for the spscified good or service.

Revenue inciudes the fixed commission from the sale of a small number of vehicles where Cazoo acts as an
agent,

Recognition of acquired Intangibles on acquisition

The process of recognising intangible assets acquired in an acquisition requires a judgement in assessing the
intangibles that exist in the acquired business and assessing falr value. An intangible asset acquired as part of a
business combination is recognised if it can be separately identified and it is a probable source of economic
benefits,

The Group acquired brumbrum S.p.A in the year anded 31 Decamber 2022, For the acquisition, the Group has
recognised goodwlill and a number of separately identifiable intangibles. The Group engaged a third-party
valuation expert for the purchase price allocation exercise in relation to each acquisition to mitigate the risk
associated with the recognition and valuation of assets and llabliities at the acquisition date, The detalis of alt
assets and liabllties recognised upon acquisition of subsidiaries is sat cut in Note 14.

Capitalisation of developmant ime

Time spent by the Group's employeas, and external contractors under the direction of the Group’s employaes, in
software development is capitalised as an internally generated intangible asse! when the requirements of |IAS 38
and of Group policy are both met. Management judgement Is applied in the assessment of the project against
the development criteria of |AS 38 in the following areas:

¢ Assessment of whether the project meets the six requirements of 1AS 38 to be considered an internally
generatad asset, as get out in Note 3.11,

+ Assessment of the peint In time when the project moved from an exploratory phase Into a development
phase.

e Assessment of the proportion of employee and contractor output that is directly attributable to
developmental activities,

Determination of cash-generating units ("CGUs")

Judgement is applied in the determination of CGUs for impairment testing. Management have carefully

considerad the cash inflows of each group of assets and how they are monitored. As a result, management have

identified three CGUs (UK, France and Garmany, and Cazana) based on the lowest level at which largely

independent cash flows are generated. Management have also considered secondary factors such as monitering

by management and how management makes decisions about continuing or disposing of assets and operations

i: help!;!g to identify its CGUs. Further information on the three CGUs and Impairment testing are disciosed in
ote 17.
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42 Estimates
impairment of Intangible assets and goodwill

Impairment exists when the carrying vaiue of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds Its recoverable amount,
The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (*DCF") model. The cash flows are derived from
the budget for the next five years. The recoverable amount Is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF
model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. Thesse
estimates are most relevant to goodwill recognised by the Group. The key assumptions used to determine the
recoverable amouynt for the different CGUs, including a sensitivity anatysis, are disclosed and further explalned
in Note 17,

Net realisable value of inventory

Vehicles held in inventory are stated at tha lower of cost and net realizable value, The calculation of net realizable
value requires an estimate of the expected selling price of sach vehicle held in inventory. This estimate is made
using a combination of historica! data of the Group and independent market data. Independent market data
provides a view to recent market aclivity for vehicles with similar attributes to those held in stock. This, combined
with recent sales data of the Group, is used to estimate the expected selling prices of Inventory. At each reporting
period the Group recognises any necessary adjustments to reflect vehicle inventory at the lower of cost or net
realizable value through cost of sales. See Note 17 for further details of the inventory provision, including a
sansitivity analysis.

Share-based payments

Estimating the fair value of equity-settied employee share options requires determination of the most appropriate
valuation model, which depends on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires
determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected lifa of the share option,
volatllity and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. For the measurement of the fair velue of equlity-
settled transactions with employees &t the grant date, the Group uses a Monte-Carlo modal for Executive director
grants and a Black-Scholes model for the SAYE scheme, The assumptions and modsls used for estimating fair
value for share-baged payment transactions are disclosed in Note 26,

Leases - Estimating the incremsntal borrowling rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in its leases, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrewing rate ("IBR") to measure lease labilties. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a simllar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The 1BR therefore reflects what the Group
“would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the leasa. The Group estimates the IBR using cbservable inputs
when available and Is required to make certein entity-specific estimates.
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5. Adjusted EBITDA

In additien to the Group’s results determined in accordance with IFRS, Management believes that Adjusted
EBITDA provides useful Information to assess the underlying performance of the business as it removes the
sffact of certain non-cash items and certain charges that are not indicative of the underlying operating
performance or results of operations,

Adjusted EBITDA is presented for supplemental informational purpeses only, and Adjusted EBITDA has
limitations as an analytical too! and should not be considered in isclation from, or as a substitute for, the analysis
of other IFRS financlal reasures, such as loss for the year. Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include
that it does not reflect the impact of working capital requirements or capital expenditures and other comp anies in
the industry may caluulale Adjusted EBITDA differently, or use a different accounting standard, which limits its
usefulness as a comparative measure, Adjusted EBITDA may not be indicative of the Group's historic operaling
rasults nor is it meant to be predictive of potential future results.

“Adjusted EBITDA" is defined as loss for the year fram continuing operations adjusted for tax, finance income,
finance expenss, depreclation, amortisation and impairmant of intangible assets, share-based payment expense,
foreign exchange movements and exceptional items which do not relate to the underlying operatians.

Exceptional tems include costs and income which Management believes to be exceptional in nature by virtue of
their size or incidence. Such items would include costs associated with business combinations, one-off gains and
losses on disposal, reorganisation costs and similar items of a non-recurring nature.

The table below presents a reconciliation of loss for the year, the most comparable IFRS measure to Adjusted
EBITDA for the periods presented.

Year anded Year ended

31 December 31 Decaomber

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Loss for the year (839,600} {328,971}
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 185,762 14,217
Loss for the year from continuing operations (653,838} (314,754)
Tax credit (7.352) (2,162)
Finance income (2,111) (232)
Finance axpanse 11,989 4,663
Depraciation 44,521 26,274
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 318,709 35,968
Share-based payment expense 44 496 43,871
Foreign exchange movements (6,752) -
Exceptional items 6,897 39,227
Total adjustments 410,397 147,609
Ad]usted EBITDA {243,441) (167,145)

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets In 2022 includes a non-cash impairment charge of £2998.4
million largely relatad to actions taken in the Group's Revised Business Plans.

Exceptional items of £7.0 miliion in 2622 include restructuring costs of £6.0 million with the remainder primarily
related to transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of brumbrum,

Exceptional ltems In 2021 Included transaction costs of £37.8 million in relation to the Listing and the remainder
were primarily related to transaction costs Incurred on the acquisition of subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For tha year ended 31 December 2022

6. Revenue
6.1 Disaggregated revenue information
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue for the year from continuing operations. Revenue recognised

from continuing operations has arisen entirely within the UK.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Type of goods or services
Retail 1,103,557 515,711
Wholesale 116,541 103,203
Other sales? 28,493 36,509
1,248,591 655,423
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods and services transferred at a peint in time 1,231,204 645,952
Goods and services transferred over time 17,387 9,471
1,248,591 655,423

' Retall indudes the aggregate retail sales price and andilary preducts {includin g financing commission, warranty commission, paint protaction
and any add-ons), together with delivery charges and admin fees, from all vehldes sold through e Group's retail channal in the year.
Ancillary revenues wers previously pressnted In “Other sales”. The comparatives for 2021 have besn restated for consistency (andllary
revenues were £15.2 milfon for the yaarended 31 December 2021},

6.2 Contract balances

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially satisfied) at the year-end is summarised as below.

Within one Within one

month as at month as at

31 Decoember 31 Decamber

2022 2021

£000 £'000

Undelivered vehicles 19,374 7,911
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year endad 31 December 2022
i. Operating expenses

Operating less from continuing operations is stated after charging:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

Expensed research and development costs

Fees payable to the Group's auditors and their asscciates are below:

Audit fees

Audit ralated fees
Tax fees

Cther fees

Year anded Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£000 £'000

34,900 21,172
19,332 30,475
299,377 5,493
18,106 8,154

Year ended Yaar ended
31 December 31 Decamber
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

2,205 2,300

45 580

- 67

2,250 2,947

Audit fee§ consist of fees for the audt of the consclidated financial statements of the Group. The fees reported
include reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses. No tax fees were paid to our auditor during the year,
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For the year ended 31 Decamber 2022
8. Employee banaflt axpansas

Employee benafit expenses, including Directors, comprise:

Wages and salaries

Employer's national insurance
Short-term non-monetary banefits
Defined contribution pension cost
Share-based payment expenses

Average number of employees, including Direclers, comprise:

Commercial

Customer

Executive

Finance, legal and risk
Marketing

Operatlons and logistics
People

Technology

Employee benefit expenses for Directors comprise:

Wages and salaries

Employer's national insurance
Short-term non-monetary benefits
Defined contribution pension cost
Share-based payment expenses

No Directors exercised share aptions during the year (2021: one).

Year anded Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
131,926 71,219
13,868 7.772
1,114 430
6,326 3,408
44,498 43,871
197,730 128,700
Yeaar endad Year ended
31 December 31 Dacember
2022 2021
103 £3
436 296
19 17
161 107
54 34
2,851 1,764
76 47
428 295
4,127 2,613
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
11 ©81
139 91
8 6
91 49
22,529 14,712
23,678 15,639
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For the year ended 31 Dacember 2022

8. Employae benofit axpensos (continuad)

Employee benefit expenses for the highest paid director comprise:

Wages and salaries

Employer's national insurance
Short-tarm non-monetary benefits
Defined contribution pension cost
Shara-based payment expenses

No cptions were exercised in raspect of the highest paid Director (2021: nil).

9. Finance income and axpense

Recognised in profit or [oss

Finance Income
Intarest on bank deposits

Total finance Income

Finance expense
Interest on loans and borrowings
Interest on lease liabllities

Total finance expense

10. GCther income and expanses

Forelgn exchange movements

Yeoar ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

559 384

86 56

5 3

56 20

22,373 8,345
23,079 8,827

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

2,111 232

2,111 232

(6,941) (3,327)
(5,048) {1,336)
(11,989) (4,663)

Year ended Year ended
31 Deceamber 31 December
2022 2021

£'000 £000

6,752 -

6,752 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 Decembsar 2022

11. Segment Information

Revenue recognised from continuing operations has arisen entirely within the UK (2021; all UK),

The following table presents the Group's non-current assets by geographic location,

Non-current assets
UK
EU

12. Taxation

Tax credht

Current tax:
Adjustments in respect of prior years

Deferred tax:

Qrigination and reversal of timing differences
Adjustrment in respect of prior years

Effect of tax rate change on opening balance

Tax cradit

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£'000 £'060

262,541 496,245
1,855 48,446
264,396 544,691

Year anded Yoar ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

- 180

(5,997} (3,867)

- 191

{1,358) 1,324
(7,352) (2,162)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
12. Taxation {continued)

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the statement of profit and loss as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Loss bafore tax from continuing operations (661,190) (316,818)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations (188,422) (17,759)
Current corporation tax rate of 19% {125,6826) (60,214)
Impact of difference in overseas tax rate (17 -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes o977 9,602
Ad|ustment in respect of previous periods - 381
Impact of rate change (1,355} 1,402
Deferred tax asset not recegnised 61,653 66,510
Impact of share scheme 9,088 -
Impairment of goodwill 47.927 .
Utilisation of deferred tax previously unrecognised - (23,862}
Difference between corporation tax and deferred tax rate - (423)
Benefit of tax incentives - (625)
Group relief surrendered - 5,067
Tax cradit {7,352} {2,162)

The tax credit is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group operatas and generates taxable income. Deferred taxation is determined
using tax rates that are gubstantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
asset s realised. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is prabable that they will be recoverable

against future taxable profits.

Changes to UK corporation tax rates were substantively enacted by the Finance Bill 2021 (on 24 May 2021).
These included an increase in the corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% from 1 April 2023. Deferred tax balances

have been remeasured accordingly where appropriate.
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12. Taxation (contlnued}
Deferrad tax
At 31 At 31
December December
2022 2021
E‘000 £'000
Defarrad tax agsats
Share-based payments 622 10,822
Losses 506 2,081
Short-tarm timing differences - 119
Other temporary differences - 87
Total deferred tax asssts recognised 1,128 13,089
Deferred tax lisbilities
Fixed asset temporary differences - (5,280)
Intanglibie asset differences - (6,632)
Other temporary dffferences (1,128) (1,263)
Total deferrad tax [iabilities (1,928) (13,175
Nat deferred tax liabilities - (86)
Reconciliation of het deferred tax liabilities:
£'000
At 31 Decembar 2020
Income tax recognised in the income statement 6,084
Prior year adjustmants (191}
Business combinations (13,404)
Equity 7,425
At 31 December 2021 (88}
Income tax recognised in the income statement 9,989
Prior year adjustments 23
Business combinations {2.501)
Equity (7,425)
At 31 Decomber 2022 -

The Group has unutilised tax losses of £554,1 million (2021: £488,3 milion) which are available against future
taxable profits for an indefinite period.
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13. Disvontinued operations

On 8 Septembar 2022, the Group anngunced the cenglusion of its strategic review of its business In mainland
Europe. Following a review of a range of strategic options, Management concluded that Cazoo would focus
exclusively on its core cpportunity in the UK. As a result, the Group commenced an orderly winddown of its
oparations in mafntand Europe.

On 31 Qctober 2022, the Group sold its Itallan operations, Cazoo Trading ltaly S.p.A., 10 Aramis Group SA,
brumbrum was previously acquired on 31 January 2022, refer toc Note 14 for further details. On 15 December
2022, the Group sold its Spanish subscription businass, Swipcar 2017, S.L., to Renting Finders S.L.

At 31 December 2022, the EU sagment was classified as a discontinued operation. The comparative year ended
31 December 2021 has been restated to show the EU segment as a discontinued operation. There was no EU
sagment in 2020.

in December 2022, management committec to a plan to sell Cluno GmbH. Accordingly, Clune GmbH is presented
as a disposal group held for sale.

Results of discontinued operations
Year ended Year ended
31 Decembear 31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Revenue 158,384 12,391
Expenses (325779) (29,098)
Loss from operations (167,395} {16,707)
Finance income 19 1
Finance expense (4,019) (1,053)
Loss on sale of discontinued operations (14,509) -
Impairment loss on remeasurement of the disposal group (2,518) -
Loas before tax from discontinued operations (188,422) (17,759)
Tax expense 2,660 3,542
Loas for the year from discontinued operations (185,762) {14,217)
Net cash flows from/{used) in discontinued operations:
Operating {79,232) (122,646)
Investing {57,127) (38,109)
Financing (29,134) 29,110
Net cash outflow (165,493) (131,645)
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13. Discentinued cperations (continuad)

Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Inventory

Trade and other regeivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

Lease liabilities

Provisions

Net assets and liabilitles

Consideration received, satisfied in cash

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of
Nat cash outflow

Disposal group held for sale

£'000

(12,333)
(5,720}
(5,570}
(8,020)

(10,800)

3,424
14,731
5.878
770

{15,640)

1,131
{10,800)

{9,669)

The meajor clesses of assets and ligbilities of Clunc GmbH classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2022

are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

[nventory

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets held for sale

Trade and other payables

Loans and borrowings

Lease liabilities

Provisions

Liabllities associated with assets held for sala

Net assets directly associated with disposal group

£'000

39,369
878
1,729
7,865
3,522
12,442

65,805

(4,504)
(29,062)
(1,003)
(5,033)

(39,602)

26,203
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14. Aoquisitions
14.1 brumbrum S.p A

On 31 January 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of brumbrum S.p.A (“brumbrum”) which was
renamed Cazoo Trading Italy S.p.A. post acquisition. Total consideration was £59.9 million, with £27.7 million
pald in cash, £3.0 millon of deferred consideration, £6.2 million of debt assumed and discharged and £23.1
million through the issue of Class A Shares, The acquisition balance sheet included £3.7 million of cash. Total
consideration net of cash acquired was £56.2 mlllion.

Faundad in 2016, brumbrum was based in Milan and operated a 40,000 square meter vohicle proparation centre
in Reggio Emilia. The business offered vehicles for sale, finance or subscription for delivery across ltaly,

The purchase has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition maethod in accordanca
with IFRS 3. The audited consolidated financial statements include the results of brumbrum for the perled from
the acquisition date through to the disposal date.

In calculating goodwill arlsing from the acquisition, the fair value of net asseis acquired was assessed and no
material adjustments from book value were made lo existing assets and liabilities. The Group recognised a
number of separately identifiable intangible assets as part of the acquisition,

Details of the amounts are set out in the table balow.

£'000
Property, plant and equipment 7,342
Right-of-use assets 8,276
Inventory 1,782
Trade and other receivables 6,401
Cash and cash equivalents 3,743
Trade and other payables (6,992)
Loans and borrowlngs (10,194)
Lease liabilities (6,276)
Provisions  (831)
Totai net assets acquired 1,421
Intanglble assets recognisaed on acquisition:
Brand 4,158
Customer relationships 3,668
Software 2,592
Deferred tax arising on intanglble assets (2,501)
Total intangible assets recognised on acquisition 7,918
Total identiflable net assets at fair value 9,339
Goodwill 50,597
Purchase consideration transferred 59,936
Satisfied by:
Cash 27,694
Deferred consideration 2,955
Debt assumed and discharged 6,236
Shares issued 23,051
Purchase consideratlon transferred 59,936
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14, Acquisitions (continued)
141 brumbrum S.p.A (continued)

At the date of the acquisition, the carrying amount of trada and other receivables was £6.4 million, all of which
was expected to be collectible in the short-term. As such, there was no difference between the carrying amount
and fair value of trade and other receivables at the date of acquisition.

The Group measured the acquired ease llabllities using the present value of the remaining lease payments at
the date of acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities.

Software acquired reprasented brumbrum's platformn system and website, which had been developed in-house
and was considered to be brumbrum cwned intellectual property. The brand was considered to be highly
recognisable in ltaly. An intangible asset was recognised for significant customer relationships.

Goodwill was attributable mainly ta the skills and technical talent of brumbrum’s workforce.

The fair value of the Class A Shares issued at the date of acquisition was determined as £3.52 per Cazco Group
Ltd Class A Share, which was the closing share price of Cazoo Group Ltd’s Class A Shares on the acquisition

date.

Transaction costs of £1.0 milion have been expensed and are inciuded in administrative expenses in the
statement of profit or loss and are part of operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

Following the winddown of operations in mainland Europe, brumbrum was ¢lassified as a discontinued aperation,
Refer to Note 13 for further details,
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15, Property, plant and eaquipmant

Lease- Com-
hold Fbrtures putar Sub- Qther Plantand
Freshold Improve and aquip-  scription motor mach-
property mants fittings ment vehicies vehicles Inery Total
£'000 £'900 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 31 December 2020 14,907 13,702 3,949 588 - 2,742 859 36,857
Additions - 12,419 5,210 2,245 82,314 8,011 810 111,009
Acquisition of subsidiaries 16,821 4,081 1,418 1,013 25,346 367 2,692 50,838
Disposalis - - - (3) (963} - {17 (983)
Transfers - - - - {(1,713) 791 - (922)
FX revaluation - - - - (738) - - (7386)
At 31 Decomber 2021 30,828 30,202 10,577 3,853 104,248 11,911 4144 195,763
Additions - 17,144 2,066 2,340 66,494 11,148 926 100,119
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 168 330 2 6,781 - 61 7,342
Disposals - {134) (4486) (672) (14,044) (11,212) (28) (26.536)
Disposal of subsidiaries - {183) (471) (14) (12,212) {11) (74) (12,965)
Sale and leasebacks (14,159) - - - - - - {14,159)
Assets held for sale - - (116) (225} (48,317) - - (48,658)
Transfers from inventory - - - - 22,2585 - - 22255
Transfers to inventory - - - - (70,427) - - (70,427)
FX ravaluation - 5 17 13 2,735 20 2 2,792
At 31 December 2022 16,669 47,202 11,957 5,297 §7.513 11,857 5,031 155,526
Accumulated
depreclation
At 31 December 2020 - (634) (415) (168) - (75) {(61) (1,343)
Depreciation charge for - (4,247) (1,495) (830) (5.938) (1,630) {542) (14,682)
the year
Disposals - - - - 1,244 - - 1,244
Transfers - - - - 43 (68) - (23}
FX revaluation - - - - (4} - - {4)
At 31 December 2021 - {4881) (1,910) (998) (4,658 (1,771} (593) (14,808)
Depreciation charge for
the year (429) (7.844) (2.,460) (1,821) (15429 (3,110) {927} (32,020)
Disposals - 162 154 103 1,682 1,501 - 3,602
Disposal of subsidiaries - 16 41 7 549 1 18 6832
Assets held for sale - - 90 125 3,327 - - 3,642
Transfers to inventory - - - - 6,707 - - 6,707
FX revaluation - (1) 5 (1Q (460) (4) 2 (468)
At 31 December 2022 (429) (12,548) (4,080) (2,594) (8,279) (3,383) {1,500) (32,813)
Net baok value
At 31 Decomber 2022 16,240 34,654 7.877 2,703 49,234 8,474 3,531 122,713
At 31 December 2021 30,828 25,321 8,667 2855 99593 10,140 3,551 180,955

The Group completed sale and leaseback transactions during the year ended 31 December 2022 resulting in
freehokl property with a carrying value of £14.2 million being derecognised from property, plant and equlpment
(2021; £nil). A foss on rights transferred of £1.9 miliion (2021: £nil) Is recognised In the statermnent of profit or loss

within administrative expenses,

The Group disposed of property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of £22.9 mifion during the year ended
31 December 2022 largely as a result of the Revised Business Plans.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
18, intangible assets and goodwill

Deveslopment

costs and Customer Domaln
Goodwlil software relationships Brand names Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 31 December 2020 22,893 5,353 - - 51 28,097
Additions - 14,237 - 22 14,259
Asquisition of subsidiaries 106,147 36,588 21,109 2,746 - 258,58C
At 31 Decernbar 2021 218,840 56,178 21,108 2,746 73 298,946
Additions . 18,078 - - 55 18,133
Agquisition of subsidlaries 50,597 2,692 3,669 4,158 - 61,016
Assets held for sale - [2,487) - - - {2.487)
Al 31 December 2022 269,437 74,361 24,778 6,904 128 375,608
Accumulated amortisation
At 31 December 2020 - {1,428) . - {9) (1,437)
Charge for the year - (6,622) (21,109) (2,746) (25) (30,502)
impairment loss - {5,493) - - - (5,493)
At 31 December 2021 - (13,543) {21.109) (2,746) (34) (37.,432)
Charge for the vear - {18,641) {653) - {38} (19,332)
[mpairment loss (269,437) (26,622) (3.016} (4,158) - (303,233)
Assets held for sale - 758 - - - 758
At 31 December 2022 {269,437) (58,048) (24,778) (6,904) (72) (359,239)
Net book value
At 31 Decembar 2022 - 16,313 - - 56 16,369
At 31 December 2021 218,840 42,635 - - 39 261,514

The Group capitalised £15.8 million of employee and contractor developmant expendiure In the year ended 31

December 2022 (2021: £11.1 million).

Impairment tasting

For the purposes of impairment testing, intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated to the Group's CGUs

as below.

At At
31 December 31 Decamber
2022 2021
£'000 £000

Intangible assets
UK 16,369 32,696
France and Germany . 5,096
Cazana - 4,304
Spain - 578
16,369 42,674
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16. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
Impairment tasting (testing)
At At
31 Decamber 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Goodwill
UK - 136,833
France and Germany - 82,007
Cazana - -
Spain - -
- 218,340

The Group performed its annual Impairment tast In December 2022 which considered both qualitative and
quantitative factors,

UK

The recoverabie amount of the UK CGU of £491.2 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021; £1,658.6 miliion} has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections covering a seven-year period.
This was extrapolated from the 2023 budget which was approved by the Board of Directors, The pre-tax discount
rate appiied to cash flow projections is 21,3% (2021: 15.7%) and cash flows beyond the seven-year period are
extrapolated using a 2.0% growth rate (2021: 2.0%). As a result of the analysis, thers is an impairment charge
of £136.7 million (2021: headroom of £1,004.7 miflion).

For value In use calculations, cash flows are typically forecast for a five-year pericd. Management has used a
longer pariod of seven years for the UK CGU to better reflact the medium-term growth expectations for this CGU
and the stage of growth of the Company.

Cazana

The recoverable amount of the Cazana CGU of £2.7 mililon as at 31 December 2022 (2021: £4.6 miflion) has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections covering a fiva-year period.
Thiz was extrapolataed from the 2023 budget which was approved by the Board of Directors. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to cash flow projections is 18.1% (2021: 23.3%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a 2.0% growth rate (2021: 2,0%). As a result of the analysis, there is headroom of £1.0 rmillien
(2021: impairment charge of £5.5 million) and managament did not identify an impairment for this CGU.

Key assumptions and sensitivity analysis

The key assumptions used In the estimation of the recoverable amount are set out below.

Discount rates

The discount rate cakulation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its CGUs and Is derived
from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC), An increase in the pre-tax discount rate 1o 22,3% (i.e. +1.0%)
in the UK CGU would result in an additional impairment charge of £54.6 million. An increase in the pre-tax
discount rate above 28.9% (l.e. +10.8%) in the Cazana CGU would result in impairment,

Gross margins

Gross margins increase over the budget period to reflect the Group's focus on unit economics through higher
margin and faster moving Inventory, with a long-term retail GPU target of approximately £2,000. A decrease in

the gross margin by 1.0% in the UK CGU would result in further impairment of £157.8 million, A decrease in the
gross margin by 1.0% in the Cazana CGU would reduce the headroom but not result in impairment.
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16. Intanglble assets and goodwlit (continued}

Terminal yruwtl 1ale

The tarminal growth rate is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period, A decrease in the terminal
growth rate by 1.0% inthe UK CGU would resuft in further impairment of £26.9 milion. A decreass in the terminal
growth rate by 1.0% in the Cazana CGU would reduce the headroom but not result in impairment,

17. Inventory
At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000 £'000
Finished goods and work In in progress 232,565 364,585

At each reporting perlad the Group recognises any nacessary adjustments to reflect vehicle inventory at the lower
of cost or net realisable value. Further detail on the estimates made in the calculation of net realisable value is

set cut in Note 4.2,

As at 31 December the inventary provision is stated as follows:

At At

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Gross inventory 235,245 369,532
Imventory provision {2,680) (4,847)
inventory 232,565 364,585

During the year £1,175.1 million (2021: £447.2 milllon) was recognised as an expense for inventory carried at

net realizable value, This is recognised in cost of sales.

The sensitivity of the inventory provision, based upon a 2% change in the expected selling price of inventory

input, is as follows:

Change In Change in

Change in expected inventory provision inventory provision

selling price estimate 2022 20214

% £'000 £'000

Inventory provision +2 683 1,417
Inventory provision -2 (1,071) {1,204)

As at 31 December 2022 inventory of £170.7 million (2021: £273.3 million) was held as securily against stocking

loans.
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18, Trade and other recaivables
Al At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Trade receivables 24,475 15,021
Prepaymants 17,151 28,124
Contract assets 248 3,451
VAT recoverable 8,395 30,499
QOther receivables 12,335 10,982
Receivables from relaled paries 13,271 -
75,875 88,077
Allowance for expected credit losses (4,000} (225)
Total trade and other recelvables 71,875 87,852
Current 65,375 77,884
Non-current 6,500 9,968

Contract assets relate to revenue earned from ancillary products. They are short term in nature and are
deracognised within one month of the reporting pariod end across both 2022 and 2021 financial years.

Set out below is the movemaent In the allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other receivables:

Allowance for
expected credit

{ossaes

£'000

At 31 December 2020 -
Provision for expected credit losses 225
At 31 December 2021 225
Provision for expected credit losses 3,775
At 31 December 2022 4,000
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19. Trads and other payables

At At

31 December 31 Decembar

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Trade payables 18,141 29,224
Accruals and other creditors 22,861 24,6583
Tax and social security payables 5,191 11,316
Contract kabilities 19,374 7.811
Deferred consideraticn - 5,554
Payables to related parties - 11,881
Total trade and other payables 65,567 90,579
Current 65,567 90,579

Non-current - -

Contract #abilities relate to undelivered vehicles. They are short term in nature and are derecognised within one
month of the reporting period end across both 2022 and 2021 financial years,

20. Loans and borrowings

The book value of kans and borrowings are as follows:

At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Currant

Stocking loans 161,592 169,170
Subscription facilities 14,983 10,188
Secured asset financing 1,479 -
Bank loans 30 835
Mortgages - 547
178,084 180,540

Non-current
Stocking loans - 8,809
Subscription facilties - 56,987
Secured asset financing 4,113 -
Bank lcans - 815
Mortgages - 1,502
4,113 88,113
Total loans and borrowings 182 187 248,653

The ca_rrying vqfue of loans and borrowings classified as financial liabllittes measured at amortised cost
approximates fair value. Details of the interest rates, maturity and security details of loans and borrowings are
set out in Note 24,

The Group's loans and borrowings are mainly denominated in Pounds Sterling.
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21 Provisions
Dllapidation Restructuring Other Total
£'000 £'000 E‘000 £'000
At 31 December 2020 3,363 - - 3,363
Acquisition of subsidiaries 3,548 - - 3,549
Recognised during the year 1,073 - - 1,873
At 31 December 2021 7,985 7,985
Acguisition of subsidiaries - - 631 831
Recognised during the year 1,464 36,877 1,979 40,320
Utilised during the year (697} (5,740) - (6,437
Reversed during the year - {1,406) - (1.406)
Liabillties held for sale - (5.033) - (5.033)
Dispcsal of subsidiaries - - {770) {770)
At 31 December 2022 8,752 24,698 1,840 35,290
Current - 24,698 1,840 26,538
Non-current 8,752 - - 8,752

The dilapidation provisions relata to the expected reinstatement costs of leased office buildings, vehicle
preparation centres, collection centres and vehicles back to the conditions required by the lease. Cash outflows
associated with the dilapidation provisicns are to be [ncurred at the end of the relevant fease term, between 4
and 20 years.

The restructuring provision relates to actions being undertaken as part of the Group's Revised Business Plans

including redundancy costs, Cash outflows associated with the restructuring provision are 1o be largely incurred
within 12 months.
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22, Leases
Group acting as a lessee

The Group has lease conlracts for its offices, customer collection centres, transporter motor vehicles and furniture
and fittings, The Group's obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets.

The carrying amounts and mgvemant in the right-of-use assets are set cut below:

Leaschold Fixtures and Subscription Other motor

property fittings vehicles vahicles Total
£'000 £000 £:000 £'000 £000

Cost
At 31 December 2020 48,332 T4 - 8,247 56,653
Additions 13,271 - 2,942 9,048 25,261
Acquisition of subsidiaries 290,268 - 5,536 - 34,804
Disposals (5,086) - {624} {220} (5,940)
Transfers - - - (791) {791)
FX revaluation - - (151) - (151)
At 31 December 2021 85,775 74 7,703 16,284 109,836
Additions 31,670 - 11,913 3,306 45,889
Acquisition of subsidiaries 8,276 - - - 8,276
Sale and feasebacks 6,930 - - - 6,930
Disposals (2,428) - . (2,529) {4,957)
Disposal of subsidiaries (6.,449) B - - (6,449)
Assets hald for sale - - (4,696) - (4,696)
Transfers - - (818) - (818)
FX revaluation 202 - 223 &8 493
At 31 December 2022 121,976 74 14,325 17.129 153,504
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 December 2020 (4,839) (18) - (1,076} (5,933)
Depraciation charge for the year (8,108) (15) (3,157} (2,829) (14,109)
Disposals 2,25% - - 143 2,394
Transfers - - - 66 &6
At 31 Decembeor 2021 {10,696) 3 (3,157 (3,6986) (17,582)
Depreclation charge for the year {16,485) (15) {4,790} (4,268) (25,558)
Disposais 2,738 - - 1,407 4,145
Disposal of subsidiaries 729 - - - 729
Assets held for sale - - 3,818 - 3,818
Transfers - - . - -
FX revaluation (48) - (177) {(17) (242)
At 31 December 2022 (23,762) (48) (4,3086) (6,574) (34,690}
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 98,214 26 10,019 10,555 118,814
Al 31 December 2021 75,079 41 4,546 12,588 92,254
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22 Leases (continued)
Group acting as a lessée {continued)

In February 2022, the Group sold two of its customer collection centres and leased them bac

k for 20 years. The

Group accountad for the sale and leaseback transactions in accordance with IFRS 16 and recognised a right-of-

use asset and a lease ligbility for the leaseback.

The carrying amount and movement in the lease liabilities are set out balow:

At 31 Dacember 2020

Additions

Acquisltion of subsidiaries
Interest

Payments

Terminations

At 31 December 2021

Addltions

Acquisition of subsidiarles
Interest

Payments

Terminations

Sale and leasebacks
Transfers

Disposals of subsidiaries
Assets held for sale

FX revaluation

At 31 December 2022

Lease
llabilities
£'000

48,048

26,228
36,352
1,338
(18,587)
(2,969)

90,400

51,757
6.276
5,245

{29,198)

(2,307)
5,466
(3,529)
(5.878)
(1,003)
231

117,460

The following are the amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss in respect of lease agreements:

Year ended Year ended

31 Decomber 31 December

2022 2024

£000 £'000

Deapreciation expense 25,558 14,109
Intarest on lease liabilities 5,209 1,338
Total 30,767 15,447
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22. Leases (continued)
Group acting as a lessor

The Group has entered into operating leases on its subscription vehicles. These ieases have terms of between
one and three years,

Future minimum rentals receivable under nonscancellable operating leases are as follows:

At At
31 Decembsr 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Within one year 776 1,602
Greater than one year but not more than five years _ 97 469
Total T 873 2,072
23, Share capital
Issued and fully paid share capital
2022 2021 2022 2021
Number Number
‘000 ‘000 £'000 £'000
Ordinary shares of £0.0000000167 each 67,232 67,232 - -
Series A shares of £0.0000000167 each 30,250 30,250 - -
Series B shares of £0,0000000167 each 29,412 29,412 - -
Series C shares of £0,0000000167 each 31,679 31,679 - -
Series D shares of £0.0000000167 each 29,127 28,127 - -
187,700 187,700 - -

74



DocuSign Envelope 1D 6F112B7E-ACDE-4AG5-94BD-5F5548340017

Cazooc Holdings Limited (Registered No, 12450682)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

23. Share capital (continued)
Capital
contribution
Share capital Share premium Merger ressrve reserve
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 December 2020 - 266,120 181,250 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 65,348 5,365
Warrants exercised - 11,967 - -
Other share issuances - 610,284 - -
At 31 Decomber 2021 - 888,371 246,598 5,365
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 23,051
Capita! contribution from

parent company - - - 465,485
At 31 December 2022 - 888,371 246,598 493,911

24, Financial instruments

241 Financial assets

Set out below is an overview of financial assets,
at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade receivables

Contract assets

Lease deposits

Total flnancial assets

Current
Non-current

other than cash and short-term deposits, held by the Group as

At 31 Decembar At 31 Dacembar

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
24,475 14,796
248 3,451
5,664 5124
30,387 23,371
24,723 18,247
5 664 5,124
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?4  Financial instrumeonts {continuad)
24.2 Financlal Habilities

Set out below is an overview of financial liabilities held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021:

Financlal liabilities: Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

At 31 At 31
December Decsrmber
Intarest rate Maturity 2022 2021
Ya £/000 £'000
Current

Stocking loans Base rate + 0.5% - 2.2% On earlier of sale or 180 days 161,692 169,170
Subscription facliities Base rate + 1.7% Within one year 14,983 10,188
Secured asset financing 3% - 7% Within one year 1479 -
Bank leans Within one year 30 635
Morigages - 547
Lease liabilities 1% - 13% Within one year 28,596 18,826
208,880 198,386

Non-currant
Stocking loans - 8,808
Subscription facilities - 56,987
Secured asset financing 3% - 7% 2027 4113 816
Bank loans - 1,502
Leaso fabilities 1% - 13% 2024 - 2042 88,864 71,574
92,977 139,687

The stocking loans are secured against the inventory of the Group. The stocking loan facilities have varying due
dates, ranging from the earlier of a sale of a vehicle by the Group to a customer or 180 day term from the inception
of the individual loan. The stocking loans rates are In reference to the Bank of England base rate or SONIA. At
31 December 2022, the Group had available a maximum of £240.0 milion of committed stocking loans.
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24, Financial instruments (continued)
24.3 Fair value

Management assessed that the fair velue of irade recseivables, other receivables, stocking loans, subscription
facilities and trade and other payables approximate their carrying value due to tha short-term maturities of these
Instruments.

The fair value of trade receivables, other recelvables, stocking loans, subscription facililies and trade and other
payables has been measured using Level 3 valuation inputs.

24.4  Interest rate risk management

Intarest rate risk is tha risk that changes in interest rates will affect the income and financial management of the
Group. The Group is exposed to interast rate risk through its stocking loans and subscription facilities whare
interest is charged in refarence to a base interest rate. The Group Is also exposed to interest rate risk on its
interest income receivable on cash at bank and short-term deposits, The Group does not hedge against interest
rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a possibie change in interast rates en the stocking lcans and
subscription tacilities, the only slement of loans and borrowings Impacted by varlable Interest rates. With other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings,

as follows:
Change In basis Effect on profit  Effect on profit
points before tax 2022 before tax 2021
£'000 £'000
Loans and borrowings +100 {2,350) (1,393)
Loans and borrowings -100 1,754 95

A 100 basis points decrease in interest ratas would have less effect on prcfit before tax than a 100 basis points
increase in interest rates because the Group's stocking loans and subscription facilities are generally subject 1o
refarence rate floors.

24.5 Forelgn currency risk management

Forelgn currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of
changes In foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk through its remaining operating
activities in Europe (when revenue and expenses are denominated in Euros) and through certain expenses
danominated in US doliars, The Group does not currently hedge against currency risk through the use of financial
instruments such as foreign currency swaos.

The following tables demonstrate the senpsitivity to a possible change in EUR exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant. The impact on the Group's profit before tax ig due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assats and liabilities. The Group’s exposure to forelgn currency changes for all other currencies is not material.

Effect on profit
before tax from

Increase/decreasa In discontinued Effect on pre-tax

EUR rate operations equity

£'000 £'000

2022 +5% (8,613) (6.516)
-5% 8,613 6,516

2021 +5% (1,336) (1,170)
-5% 1,336 1,170

77



DaocuSign Envelope I0: 6F112B7E-ACDE-4AB5-94BD-SF554B340D17

Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No, 124500682)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

24. Financial instruments {continiad)
24.6  Credit risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or bank (“counterparty”) fails to meet its
contractual abligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its
operating activities (primarlly trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
ard finanglal institutions.

For retail and wholesale sales, the Group's exposure to credit risk is minimal since the settlement of amounts
duae for the sale of a vehicle to a consumer is completed prior to the delivery of the vehicle. The trade receivables
balance represents customer funds to be received from our consumer finance partners and paymaent gateway
provider.

For subscription sales and third-party reconditicning, the expected credit losses are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debters,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both tha current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriats,

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed in accardance with the Group's treasury
policy. The Group's maximum exposure to cradit risk on cash and cash equivalents Is the carrying amount of
cash and cash equivalents on the statesment of financial position.

24.7 Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk refers to the abllity of the Group to meet the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled as they fall due.

The treasury sirategy of the Group is to retain cash on the balance sheet by financing the purchase of inventory
and to maximise Interest received whilst maintaining liquidity and flexibiiity in the avallability of funds.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based upon contractual
undiscounted payments:

At 31 December 2022 Less than one
year 1to 5 yoars Over 5 years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Stocking loans 164,478 - - 164,478
Subscription facilities 15,354 - - 15,354
Secured assat financing 1,727 4,408 - 6,135
Bank loans 30 - - 30
Lease liabilities 24,203 56,324 72,644 163,171
Trade payables 65,567 - - 65,567
Total 271,359 80,732 72,644 404,735
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21. Financlal Instruments (continuod)

24.7  Liquidity risk managsment (continued)

At 31 Decombor 2021 Less than one
year 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
£'000 £'000 £:000 £'000
Stocking loans 168,170 8,809 - 177,979
Subscription facilities 12,155 65,797 - 77,952
Bank loans 741 869 - 1,610
Mortgages 600 1,653 - 2,253
Lease iiabilities 18,917 46,772 34,526 100,215
Trade payables 28,224 - - 29,224
Payables to related parties 11,881 - - 11,881
Total 242,688 123,900 34,526 401,114
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24,  Financial instruments (continued)

24.8 Changes In liabllities arising from financial activities

Secured
Stocking Subscription asset Bank Lease

loans facilities financing loans Mortgages Iiabllities Total

£'000 £'000 £000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 31
December 2020 86,709 - - - 3,494 48,048 138,251
Neow loases - - - - - 26,228 26,228
Acquisition of
subsidiaries - 19,878 - 1,468 - 36,352 57,698
I1ssue of debt 665,325 107,683 - 30 - - 773,038
Repayment (574,055) (60,386) - (48) (1,445) (18,587) (654,531)
Terminations - - - - - (2,969) (2,969)
Net accrued
interast - - - - - 1,338 1,338
At 31
December 2021 177,879 87,175 1,450 2,049 90,400 339,053
New leases - - - - - 51,757 51,757
Sale and
ieasebacks - - - - - - 5,466 5,466
Transfers - - - - - (3,.529) (3,529)
Acquisition of
subsidiarias - 10,193 - - - 6,276 16,469
Disposal of
subsldiaries - (14,731) - - - (5.878) (20.609)
lssue of debt 1,202,039 101,967 5,971 3 11 - 1,309,991
Repayment {1,218,428) {(120,559) (379) (1,423) (2.060) (29.198) (1,372,045)
Terminations - - - - - (2,307} (2,307)
Net accrued
Interest - - - - - 5,245 5,245
Foreign
exchange
movements - - - - - 231 231
Liabilities held
for sale - {29,062) - - - {1,003) (30,063)
At 31
Decomber 2022 161,592 14,983 5,592 30 - 117,460 299,657

249 Hedge accounting

The Group has not entered Into any agresments designed to hedge financial risk in the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: none).

B0



DocuSign Envelope ID: 6F112BTE-ACCE-4ABS-94BD-6F5548340D17

Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No. 12450682)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
24.  Financlal Instrumenis (continuad)

24.10 Derscognition of financial insrumants

The Group has not recorded ary gains or losses arising through the derecognition of financial assets or financial

liabilities in the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: none}.

The Company Is nol subject to any externally Imposed capital requirements.

24.11 Capital managemaent

For the purposes of the Group's capital management, capital inciudes cash raised through the issue of share
capital and stocking and subscription loans. The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
finance operational and developmental activities. Stocking loans are used specifically by the Group to finance

the purchase of inventory,

At At

31 December 31 Decamber

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Inventory 232,565 364,585
Slocking loans (161,592) (177,979)
Net inventory 70,973 188,606
Cash and cash equivalents 258,192 192,629
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25, Group information

Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2022 the consoldated financial statements of the Group include:

Name Country of incorporation Princlpal activities lﬁg::-lgt

Cazoo Limited United Kingdom Sale of motor vehicles 100%

Cazoo Properties Limited United Kingdom Activities of other holding 100%
companies

Imperial Car Supermarkets United Kingdom Sale of motor vehicles 100%

Limited

Imperial Cars of Swanwick United Kingdom Sale of motor vehicles 100%

Limited

Carsaz Limited United Kingdom Sale of motor vehicles 100%

Cazoo Subscription Services | United Kingdom Renting and leasing of motor 100%

Limited vehicles

Fantastic Cars Limited United Kingdom Renting and leasing of motor 100%
vehicles

Cazoo Wholesale Services United Kingdom Maintenance and repalr of 100%

Limited motor vehicles

Cazoo Data Services Limited | United Kingdom QOther business support 100%
service activities not
elsewhere classified

Project Chicago Newco United Kingdom Non-trading company 100%

Limited

Arctos Holdings Limited United Kingdom Activities of other holding 100%
companies

Moorgate House (Newco) United Kingdom Dormant company 100%

Limited

GBJ Developments Limited United Kingdom Non-trading company 100%

CD Auction Group Limited United Kingdoem Sale of motor vehicles 100%

Cazoo Support Services United Kingdom Malintenance and repair of 100%

Limited motor vehicles

Ensco 1109 Limited United Kingdom Activities of othar holding 100%
companles

SMH Fleet Solutions Limited | United Kingdom Maintenance and repair of 100%
motor vehicles

Vans 365 Limited United Kingdom Sala of vans 100%
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2% Group Information (coslinued)
Name Country of incorporation Princlpal activities iﬁz::'lcgt
CZO Data Services, Portugal QOther business support 100%
Unlpesgsoal, Lda service activities not
alsewhers classified
€SS Mobility France SaS France Renting and leasing of motor 100%
vehicles
Cazoo Trading France SaS Franca Sale of maotor vehicles 100%
‘; Cazoo Properties France France Activities of other holding 100%
| SaS companies
| Cluno GmbH Germany Renting and leasing of motor 100%
| vehiclgs
; Cluno Fintech 1 GmbH Germany Acquisition, leasing and 100%
‘ financing of motor vehicles
Cluno Fintech 2 GmbH Germany Acquisition, leasing and 100%
financing of motor vehicles
C8S Fintech GmbH Germany Acquisition, leasing and 100%
financing of molor vehicles
Cazoo Trading Germany Germany Salg and rental of moter 100%
GmbH vehicles and related
intermediation activities
Cazoo Propertles Germany | Germany Activities of other holding 100%
GmbH companies
C3S Germany GmbH & Co. | Germany Rental of motor vehicles and 100%
KG related intermediation
activities
Cazoo Trading Spain, 8.1 Spain Sale of motor vehicles 100%
Cazoo Properties Spain, 5.L | Spain Activities of other holding 100%
companies
Cazoc Trading Itaty SARL Haly Sale of motor vehicles 100%

Parent company

The Group's legal parent company Is Cazoo Group Ltd, a limited company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Isiands on 24 March 2021, Their registered office is at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
K¥1-1104, Cayman Islands and their principal executive offica is at 41 Chaiton Street, London, NW1 1JD, United

Kingdom.,
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20. Share-based payments

Under the Incentive Equity Plan, the Group operates an equity-settled share-based incentive scheme whereby
options are granted under Unapproved share aptions for UK-based employees and Restricted Stock Units for
Europe-based employees. Tha options vest in instalments over four years with expiry after ten years. Unvested
options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest.

Certain exscutive directors received awards, equally split between timea-based and performance-based awards.
Under the terms of tha Incentive Equity Plan, the time-based awards will be eligible to vest in equal annual
instalments on each of the first four anniversarles of the grant date, subject to continued employment through
sach such anmiversary, and market parformance criteria. Any portion of the performance-based awards that
remain unvested as of the fifth anniversary of the grant will be forfeited.

In January 2022, the Group established a SAYE scheme. The scheme provides employees an option to purchase
shares in the Company in three years' time at a discounted price per share which Is fixed at the grant date.

The Group recegnised a share-based charga for the year as follows:

Year ended Year anded
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Incentive Equity Plan 44,312 13,599
SAYE 184 -
EM! prior to the Listing - 73
Unapproved prior to the Listing . 29,096
Modification at the Listing - 1,103
44 496 43,871
The following options were granted during the year ended 31 December 2022:
Scheme Number Grant data Explry date
Incentive Equity Plan 2,285,099 01/01/2022 01/01/2032
Incentive Equity Plan 1,269,100 01/04/2022 01/04/2032
Incentive Equity Plan 1,087,250 01/07/2022 01/07/2032
Incentive Equity Plan 427,300 01/10/2022 01/10/2032
Incentive Equity Plan - Directors 3,833,339 01/10/2022 01/10/2032
SAYE 1,496,903 26/01/2022 31/Q08/2025
Total 2022 10,508,991
Unappraved prigr to the Listing 469,000 01/01/2021 01/01/2031
Unapproved prior to the Listing 2,023,516 01/04/2021 01/04/2031
Incentive Equity Plan 23,915,248 01/10/2021 01/10/2031
Total 2021 26,407,764
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26. Share-based payments (continued)
Movaments in share options during the year

The following reconclles the share options ocutstanding at the beginning and end of the year.

Incantive
EMI Unapproved Equity Plan SAYE
Number of Number of Number of Number of
options aptions options options
At 31 December 2020 4,683,683 8,121,393 - -
Granted pricr to the Listing - 2,492,516 - -
Forfeited prior to the Listing (66,413) (579,713) - -
Cash settled at the Listing {34,680) (44,114) - -
Replacements at the Listing (4,582,580) {9,990,082) 50.347,49N -
Granted after the Listing - - 23,815,248 -
At 31 Decamber 2021 - - 74,262,739 -
Granted during the year - - 8,012,088 1,496,903
Exercised during the year - - [(9,513,868) -
Forfeited during the year - - (10,732,364) (884,823)
Explred during the year - . {599,238) -

At 31 December 2022 -

62,429,357 612,080

Employee share optlon fair value assessment

The following information is relevant in the determination of fair value of the employse share options granted

during 2022:

incentlve Equity

Incentive Equity Plan - Executive
Plan Directors SAYE
Valuation method N/A Monte-Carlo Black Scholes
Exercise price £nil £nil £3.60
Expected volatillty N/A 98% 53%
Dividend yield Nil Nil Nil
Risk free interest rate NiA 4.2% 1.2%
Fair value per share £0.40-£4 46 £0.31 £0.98
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26, Share-based payments {continued)
Employee share optlon fair value assessment (continued)

The following Information is relevant in the determination of fair value of the employee share options granted

during 2021:

Incentive Equity
Incentive Equity  Plan — Executive
Unapproved Plan Directors
Valuation method Monte-Carlo N/AT Monte-Carlo
Exsrcise price Enil £nil Enil
Expected volatility 50% N/A 53%
Dividend yield Nil Nil Nil
Rigk free intsrest rate 0.00% N/A 1.15%
" Fair value per share £8.27 - £23.74 £5.33 £2.93

27, Cash and cash squivalents
At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Cash at bank avallable on demand 179,688 181,818
Cash heid in shori-term deposil accounts 66,062 10,811
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial poslition 245,750 192,628
Cash at bank ang short-tarm deposits within asgets hald for sale 12,442 -
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 258,192 192,629

28. Events after the reporting date
28.1 Revised 2023 Plan

On January 18 2023, the Group announced its revised FY 2023 plan which aims to improve the unit econemics
of the business, To enabls these improvements, the Group reset its 2023 top line ambitions to 40,000-50,000 UK
retail units, allowing the Group to focus on higher margin and faster moving inventory and to rationalize its
operational footprint. The Group expeds to incur charges for restructuring in 2023 as a resuft of the
implemantation of its revised 2023 plan, including amounts for the write off of non-current assets such as
lsasehold improvemaents, right-of-use assets and internally developed softwars,

28.2 Sale of German subscription business

On February 17 2023, the Group agreed to sell its German subscription business, Clunc GmbH, to VivelLaCar
GmbH and The Platform Group GmbH & Co. KG. The agreement inciudes 100% of the capital and voting rights
of the company Cluno GmbH and the Cluno brand along with the associated assets. All employees of Clungo will
transfer to ViveLaCar GmbH as part of the agreement. As of the date of this report, it is too early to determine
the financlal effect.

28.3 Sale of Cazana data piatform

On February 22 2023, the Group sold its third-party data platform, Cazena, The agreement includes the sale of
the Cazana brand, platform and commercial contracts. As of the date of this report, it is too early to determine
the financial effect,
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29. Relalud paily Lransactions

29.1  Key management personnel

The Directors are considered to be key management personnel of the Group. The amounts disclosed In the table
are the amounts recognised as an expense during the year related to key management personnel.

Year ended Year ended

31 Decamber 31 Decomber

2022 2021

£'000 £°000

Short-term employee benefits 1,058 778

Post-amploymant benefits 91 49

Share-basad payment transactions 22,529 14,712

Total compensation pald to key management personnal 23,678 15,539
29.2  Other related party transactions

At AL

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £:000

Recaivables from Cazoo Group Lid 13,271 -

Payables to Cazoo Group Ltd - (11,881)

No other reportable related party transactions eccurred during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022

Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Iweaslment in subsidlaries

Currant assots
Trade ang other recelvahles
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Liabilitles

Current iabilities

Trade and other payables
Provisions

Total liabilities

Net assets

Share capltal

Share premium

Merger reserve

Capital contribution reserve
Retained eamings

Total equity

Note

At At

31 December 31 December
2022 2021

£'000 £'000

62 108

197,257 370,468
197,318 370,576
264 586,479
180,450 101,984
180,714 698,463
378,033 1,069,039
5,406 23,501

495 -

5,901 23,501
372,132 1,045,538
888,371 888,371
200,946 200,946
493,911 £,365
(1,211,096} (49,144)
372,132 1,045,638

The loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 of the Company is £1,185,056k (2021: £65,100k).

The financlal statements on pages 88 to 94 waere approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

28 April 2023 and were signed on Its behalf by:

Paul Weolf

P Woolf
Diractor
28 April 2023
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Capltal
contrl-
Share Share Merger bution Retained Total
capital premium raserve raserve eaarnings aquity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 December 2020 - 266,120 135,598 - 1,399 403,117
Comprehensive Income for the year
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (65,100) (65,100)
Contributions by and distributions
to owners
Acquisition of subsidiarias - - 65,348 5,365 - 70,713
Exercise of warrants from Drover
acquisition - 11,967 - - - 11,867
Issue of share capital - 610,284 - - - 610,284
Exercise of options - - - - (369) (369)
Share-based paymants - - - - 14,826 14,926
At 31 December 2021 - 888,37 200,946 5,385 (49,144) 1,045,538
Comprehensive Incoms for the year
Total comprehensive Igss for the year - - - - {1,185,056) (1,185,056)
Contributions by and distributions
to owners
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 23,051 - 23,051
Capital contribution from parent
company - - - 465,495 - 465,485
Share-based payments - - - - 23,104 23,104
At 31 Becember 2022 - 888,371 200,946 493,811 (1,211,088) 372,132
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1, Accounting pnlicies and basis of accounting

The finantial statements of Cazoo Holdings Limited (Registered No. 12450882) (the “Company™) have been
prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' (FRS 101).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of land and buildings and darivative financlal assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit
or loss, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The Company is a privale company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companles
Act 2008 and is registersd In England and Wales. The address of the Company's registered office is shown in
Note 1 of the consclidated financlal statements. The Company was incorporated on 7 February 2020.

The Company's principal activity is to act as an investment halding company that provides management services
to ts subsidiaries.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions avallable under that
standard in relation to share-based payment, financial instruments, presentation of a cash flow statement,
standards nct yet effective, and certain related party transactions.

investments in subsidiares are valued at cost less any provision for impairment. Further information about
subsidiaries is provided in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The movements In share capital are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

The pringipal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in Note 2 to the consolldated financial
statements.

The financial statemsents of Cazoo Heldings Limited have been prepared on a going concern basis as set out in
Note 2.7 to the consolldated financial statements.

2, Critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty
There were no critical accounting judgements that would have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the parent company financial statements or key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that

would have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year,

3. Proflt for the year

As permitted by 8408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate profit and kss account or statement of
comprehensive Income Is presented in respect of the parent company, The profit attributable to the Company is
disclosed in the footnote to the Company's balance shaet.

The auditor's ramuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statemenis.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 Decemnber 2022
4, Fmployaa hanafit avpensges

Employee benefit expenses (including Directors) comprise:

Wages and salaries

Employer's national nsurance
Short-temm non-rmonetary benefits
Defined contribution pension cost
Shars-based payment expenses

The average number of employees are as follows:

Administrative

Employee benefit expanses in respect of all Directors:

Wages and salaries

Employer's natlonal insurance
Short-term non-monetary benefits
Defined contribution pension cost
Share-based payment expenses

No Diractors exercised share options during the year (2021: one),

Year ended Year ended
31 Docambar 31 Dacember
2022 2021
£:000 £°000
600 801
a7 116
- ]
50 49
23,104 14,928
23,841 15,898
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
3 2
3 2
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
911 681
139 81
8 6
81 49
22,529 14,712
23,678 15,539
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
4. Fmployeo bonefit axpensas (contiuued)

Employee benefit expenses in respect of the highest paid Director:

Year andead Year ended
31 December 31 Decembaer
2022 2021
£'000 E£°000
Wages and salaries 559 394
Employer's national insurance 86 56
Short-term non-manetary benefits 5 3
Definad contribution pension cost 56 29
Share-based payment expenses 22,373 §,345
23,078 8,827
No options were exercised in respact of the highest paid Director (2021: nil}.
5. Intangible assets
Domaln
Software names Total
£'000 E£'000 £'000
Cost
At 31 Decernber 2020 213 - 213
Additions - - -
At 31 December 2021 213 213
Additions - 29 29
At 31 December 2022 213 28 242
Accumulated amort|sation
At 31 Decambar 2020 {33) - (33
Charge for the year {(72) - (72)
At 31 December 2021 (105) - (108%)
Charge for the year (72) (3) (75)
At 31 December 2022 {177) (3) (180)
Net hook value
At 31 Deacember 2022 38 26 62
At 31 December 2021 108 - 108
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. Investment In subsidiaries
At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Investment In Imparial Car Supermarksts Limited - 25,580
Investment in Drover Limitad - 60,802
Investment in Cazoo Wholesale Services Limited 14,200 14,200
Investment In Cluno GmbH 26,203 60,376
Investment in Cazoo Trading France S5aS - 21
Investment in Cazoo Limited 137,49 137,491
Investment in SMH Fleet Soiutions Limited 17,494 17,494
Investment in Cazco Data Services Limited 1,869 23,690
Investment in Swipcar 2017, S.L. - 23,569
Investmaent in Vans 365 Limited - 7,121
Investment in Cazoo Trading Germany GmbH - 24
197,257 370,468
Details of subsidiary undertakings
Thaese are disclosed in Note 25 of the Group accounts.
7. Trade and other recelvables
At At
31 Decamber 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Prepayments 10 3,839
VAT racaverable 181 406
Other receivables 73 101
Recelvables from related partles 316,796 592,333
317,060 596,479
Allowance for expected cradit losses (316,796) -
264 596,479
8. Cash and cash equivalents
At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Cash at bank available on demand 130,317 101,973
Cash beld in short-term deposits 50,133 1
180,450 101,984
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9. Trade and other payables

At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Accruals and other creditors 1,335 3,596
Tax and social security payables 3,598 2,001
Defarred consideration - 5,554
Payables to related parties 473 12,350
5,408 23,501
10. Provisions
Other
provisions
£'000
At 31 December 2021 .
Recognised during the year 495
At 31 December 2022 495

1. Events after the reporting date

Detalls of evenis after the reporting date are disclosed in Note 28 of the Group accounts,
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